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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
SEC FORM 17-Q 

 
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES 

 REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17(2)(b) THEREUNDER 
 
1. For the quarterly period ended: September 30, 2025 
   
2. Commission identification number 63824 
 
3. BIR Tax Identification No. 000-322-268-000 
 
4. Exact name of issuer as specified in its charter:  CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
  
5. Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization: Pasig City, Philippines 
  
6. Industry Classification Code:          (SEC Use Only)  
  
7. Address of issuer's principal office:                                                       Postal Code:  1605 
 2701-B East Tower, Tektite Towers, Exchange Road, Ortigas Center, Pasig City 
 
8. Issuer's telephone number, including area code: (02) 8635-5735   

  
9. Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report:  Not Applicable 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code, or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA: 
 

Title of each Class Number of shares of common stock outstanding and 
amount of debt outstanding 

  Common      6,875,000,000 shares  
 
11. Are any or all of the securities listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange? 
 
 Yes   [ x ]    No   [   ] 
 
12. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant:  
 

(a) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 17 
thereunder or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA Rule 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 
and 141 of the Corporation Code of the Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) 
months (or for such shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
 Yes   [ x ]     No   [   ] 
 

(b) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 
  
 Yes   [ x ]    No   [   ] 
 

 
 
 

  



PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1.  Financial Statements. 
 
The unaudited financial statements are filed as part of this Form 17-Q. 
 
Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) of Financial Conditions and Results of 

Operations. 
 
The following is a discussion and analysis of the financial performance of CTS Global Equity Group, Inc. 
The discussion aims to provide readers with an appreciation of its business model and the key factors 
underlying its financial results. The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial 
statements of the Company filed as part of this report.  
 
Company Overview 
 
CTS Global Equity Group, Inc. (“CTS”, or the “Company”) was established to engage in the business of 
equities trading as a broker-dealer for the Philippine market, but through time, shifted focus to its 
proprietary trading deck for global equities. It uses its intellectual property assets, specifically on risk 
management, macroeconomics, fundamental, and technical analysis, to seek and capitalize on opportunities 
on a local and global scale through trading of equities listed in stock exchanges. With a combined 
experience of more than 100 years trading in the stock market, the proponents of the Company have 
developed a robust trading system that allows its traders to consistently generate returns on proprietary and 
client capital. The Company offers its brokerage services for securities and is listed in the Philippine Stock 
Exchange.  
 
The Company’s core competency was honed in the Philippine stock market and further developed overseas, 
particularly in the US, Hong Kong, and Japan stock markets. Through decades of active participation in 
these trading markets, the Company was able to develop and has continued to develop its intellectual 
property assets, thereby improving its competitive advantage. The Company successfully pivoted and 
maneuvered the challenges of the pandemic with the newly digitized training sessions, risk management 
monitoring, and fully automated analytics, leveling up the Company’s operations.  
 
The Company is a multi-asset firm primarily investing through fixed income and equities. Though the 
trading strategies on each equity are inherently diverse, the development and application of every distinct 
trading technique falls under the overarching trading system and rules of the FTSR Trading Framework. 
This framework has been developed for 40 years and is still constantly improved under the Caylum Trading 
Institute (“Caylum” or “CTI”), the Company’s trading education partner. 
 
The Company believes that its stock market expertise and training program are inestimable assets that can 
support its core vision of growing the number of traders in its pool while also being able to consistently 
preserve and grow the various assets under its management.  
 
Business Segments 
 
The Company’s business segments are: 
 
Proprietary Trading. The Company has traders with exposure in multiple global markets including the 
United States, Hong Kong, Japan, and the ASEAN markets. CTS’ investment framework, which has been 
developed and refined for over the past forty years, allows the Company to consistently generate return on 
proprietary capital. This business segment will remain to be the Company’s largest revenue contributor in 
the foreseeable future. In this segment, the traders generate profits for the firm in exchange for overall trader 
development, risk infrastructure, proprietary capital, and compensated with a fixed salary and commissions. 
 
Brokerage Services. As one of the PSE Trading Participants, CTS renders stock brokerage and dealership 
services at a fee for high-net-worth clients. Revenues from this side are in fixed commissions based on the 



transaction amounts. As a traditional broker, CTS clients place their buy or sell orders and receive 
confirmation of the execution of their transactions through licensed salesmen of the Company.  
 
Investment Income. Aside from giving an overall guidance to the trading house’s market and foreign 
exchange exposure, the Macroeconomics Desk and the Global Research team within CTS likewise invests 
in assets with a longer-term horizon. These teams specialize in conducting in-depth research to generate 
alpha.  
 
Client Advisory. Using the Company’s core competency in the global markets, this recently launched 
segment offers investment solutions to clients, delivering consistent returns while capturing equity upside. 
  
Industry and Economic Review 
 
The third quarter of 2025 saw improving market sentiment as inflation eased and monetary policy turned 
more supportive. The U.S. Federal Reserve implemented its first rate cut of the cycle in September, 
reducing the target range to 4.75–5.00%. The move helped calm markets after months of uncertainty and 
signaled confidence that inflation was broadly under control. 
 
Equities. Global equity markets moved higher, led by technology and growth-oriented names that benefited 
from expectations of lower borrowing costs. The S&P 500 rose 8.1% during the quarter, while the MSCI 
Asia ex-Japan Index gained 11.1% as investor appetite for risk assets returned. In the U.S., earnings came 
in better than expected, with aggregate profits up about 6% year-on-year. Asian markets, particularly China 
and South Korea, rebounded on signs of policy support and improved export activity. Japan’s Nikkei 225 
also advanced 4.5% as a softer yen supported corporate earnings. 
 
Commodities. Commodity prices were mixed but generally stable. The Bloomberg Commodity Index 
added 3.7%, driven by stronger demand for gold and other precious metals. Gold rose 5.2% to around 
US$3,450 per ounce—its highest level to date—on safe-haven buying and lower real yields. Oil prices 
averaged US$74 per barrel, slipping from earlier highs as inventories built up and global demand softened. 
 
Bonds. Fixed-income markets posted small gains as yields declined following the Fed’s rate cut. The 
Bloomberg Global Aggregate Bond Index rose 0.6%, while U.S. 10-year Treasury yields fell to 3.9% from 
4.4% in June. Credit spreads tightened modestly, reflecting improved confidence in corporate fundamentals 
and a more stable rate outlook. 
 
Currency. The U.S. dollar weakened 2.8% on a trade-weighted basis as expectations of further Fed easing 
grew. The Japanese yen gained 1.9% against the dollar, while most ASEAN currencies—including the 
Philippine peso—remained broadly stable. 
 
Philippine Market. The Philippine economy expanded by an estimated 5.8% in the third quarter, supported 
by household consumption and ongoing public infrastructure spending. Inflation averaged 1.7%, prompting 
the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas to cut its policy rate by 25 basis points to 5.00%. The peso closed at ₱58.042 
per U.S. dollar, remaining relatively steady, while the PSEi rose 1.9% in line with regional equity 
performance. Lower interest rates and subdued inflation also pushed local bond yields lower by roughly 
20–30 basis points during the period. 
 
Looking ahead, the near-term outlook remains constructive given easing inflation and supportive monetary 
policy. However, uncertainties surrounding global trade, fiscal deficits, and commodity prices could still 
weigh on investor sentiment. Maintaining disciplined risk management and diversification remains 
important in navigating the next phase of the market cycle. 
  
  



Business Review 
 
Key Performance Indicators 
 

  Nine Months Ended   
September 30, 2025 

Nine Months Ended   
September 30, 2024 

Revenue/ Capital  5.4% 7.0% 
Gross Margin   50.5% 63.5% 
Net Margin  19.6% 46.8% 
Global Trading Gains (Losses) (in millions) (P=6.9) P=16.9 
Local Trading Gains (in millions) P=29.6 P=43.2 
Total Revenues (in millions) P=104.0 P=134.7 
Net Liquid Capital (in millions) P=1,977.7 P=1,981.8 
Risk-Based Capital Adequacy (RBCA) Ratio   480% 970% 

 
CTS’ recorded revenues of P=104.0 million as of end September 2025, a decline from P=134.7 million in the 
same period last year. As a result, revenue over capital dropped to 5.4% from 7.0% in the prior period. The 
22.8% decrease in revenue was largely attributed to weaker trading gains from both local and global markets, 
which amounted to P=22.7 million as of end September 2025, compared to P=60.1 million trading gain in the 
same period last year. Meanwhile, interest income remained a major revenue source, contributing P=60.0 
million, despite a 12.6% decline, partly offset by dividend income of P=12.0 million. 
 
Primarily due to lower trading gains, gross margin declined to 50.5% as of end September 2025 from 63.5% 
in the same period last year while cost of services rose modestly by 4.8%. Operating expenses also increased 
by P=2.1 million compared to the same period last year. As a result of lower trading gains, stable interest 
income and moderate increase in expenses, CTS’ posted a net margin of 19.6% as of end September 2025. 
 
CTS continued to meet the stringent rules of regulators in the Philippines. As of September 2025, CTS’ 
Risk Based Capital Adequacy Ratio (RBCA) is 480%, which is considerably higher than the minimum 
requirement of 110.0%. The ratio ensures that the Company has sufficient capital to sustain operating 
losses, if any, while maintaining a safe and efficient market. 
 
Material Changes in Financial Condition (September 30, 2025 vs December 31, 2024) 
  
CTS’ total assets grew by 8.1% or by P=185.4 million, to P=2.5 billion as of end September 2025, compared 
to end 2024. 

 
Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term time deposits, declined slightly by 0.8% to ₱436.6 million 
from ₱440.3 million at the end of 2024. The movement resulted from various factors: income before tax of 
₱26.4 million, partially offset by non-cash adjustments totaling ₱13.1 million, which included depreciation, 
unrealized trading losses, and unrealized foreign exchange losses. Other movements include a ₱77.6 million 
net increase in Philippine equity securities, a ₱28.6 million increase in payables to the clearinghouse, and 
a ₱20.2 million collection of receivables from clearinghouse. The decline also reflected the settlement of 
₱9.2 million of end-2024 accrued expenses, higher customer portfolio balances from net portfolio sales, a 
₱30.0 million dividend payment, and ₱16.1 million in net cash inflows from the sale and repurchase of 
bonds.  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) rose to P=667.0 million from P=65.4 million as of 
end 2024, due to increased positions in equity securities both locally and abroad. The increase was driven 
by a U.S. equity rebound during the quarter amid easing inflation, resilient economic performance and 
optimism over earnings and rate cuts. 
 
Trade receivables dropped to P=29.7 million from P=440.2 million as of end 2024, mainly due to the reversal 
of a foreign broker-related receivable to a payable position, resulting from the company’s margin trading 
activities. 
 



Investments in government fixed-income securities declined by 0.4% or by P=4.7 million primarily due to  
P=891.0 million in bond sales, P=874.9 million in new bond purchases, P=13.5 million mark-to-market gain on 
FVOCI-classified securities, and P=2.1 million in bond amortization. 
 
As of end September 2025, investments in government fixed-income securities classified as financial assets 
at FVOCI (for purposes of collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets) amounted to P=1.2 
billion.  
 
The interest rates of investments in government securities ranges from 6.75% to 7.50% p.a. Additionally, 
cumulative unrealized gain on changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI amounted to P=26.3 million 
as of end September 2025.  
 
CTS’ investments in government fixed-income securities form part of its strategy to boost interest income 
and help cover operating expenses, leveraging the debt securities market as a stable source of recurring 
income. To manage risks associated with these investments, CTS employs a comprehensive approach that 
includes diversification, duration and credit risk management, continuous monitoring of economic 
conditions, prudent position sizing, and maintaining a targeted yield profile. These measures aim to mitigate 
risks and support the achievement of CTS’ investment objectives. 
 
Property and equipment declined by 18.3% mainly due to P=3.5 million in depreciation, while investment 
property decreased by 5.8%, due to P=0.5 million in depreciation. Intangible assets also decreased by 7.8% 
mainly due to P=0.5 million in amortization. 
 
Net deferred tax assets decreased by 41.6% to P=13.2 million. The account comprises of deferred tax assets, 
mainly from CTS’ net operating loss for carryover and retirement liability, amounting to  
P= 20.3 million and P= 7.7 million, respectively, and deferred tax liability, mainly from CTS’ unrealized 
foreign exchange gains and unrealized gain on changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI, 
amounting to P=11.5 million and P=6.6 million, respectively. 
 
Other current assets increased by 82.7% to P=32.5 million from P=17.8 million, mainly consisting of P=21.8 
million in interest receivables from government fixed-income investments and P=7.6 million in excess tax 
credits. Other noncurrent assets increased by P= 0.7 million mainly due to refundable clearing fund 
contributions. 
 
Total liabilities increased by 83.7% to P=405.9 million as of end September 2025, up from P=220.9 million 
at end-2024. This increase was mainly due to a P=142M payable position with a foreign broker arising from 
the company’s margin trading activities, as well as higher client cash balances due to net portfolio sales. 
These were partially offset by settlement during the year of end-2024 accrued expenses and government 
payables.  

 
Stockholders’ equity stood at P=2.0 billion, as a result of by P=20.4 million in net income, P=10.1 million in 
unrealized gains on FVOCI-classified government securities, net of tax, and P=30.0 million in dividends 
paid. 
  
Material Changes in the Results of Operations (September 30, 2025 vs September 30, 2024) 
 
CTS recorded P=104.0 million in revenues as of end September 2025, down 22.8% from P=134.7 million a 
year ago, mainly due to lower trading gains of P=22.7 million versus P=60.1 million last year. The decline 
largely reflects sustained market volatility throughout the period, driven by U.S. tariff measures, divergent 
central bank policies, and persistent geopolitical tensions. Although the S&P 500 rebounded strongly in the 
third quarter of 2025, with year-to-date gains to about 13.7%, the late-quarter recovery was insufficient to 
offset earlier trading losses, as the company maintained a cautious stance in both local and global equity 
exposures. Meanwhile, the PSEi continued to underperform, declining by 6.3% year-to-date. 
 
On the other hand, interest income from fixed-income securities and bank deposits, amounting to P=60.0 
million, remained a key revenue contributor despite a 12.6% decline due to local policy rate cuts – from 



6.25% as of September 30, 2024, to 5.00% as of September 30, 2025. Meanwhile, cost of services rose 
slightly by 4.8%, or by P=2.4 million. 
 
As a result of lower revenues, CTS’ gross margin stood at 50.5% as of end September 2025, from 63.5% 
in the same period last year, translating to a gross margin of P=52.5 million versus P=85.6 million in the same 
period last year. 
 
Operating expenses rose by 8.9%, or by P=2.1 million, primarily due to increased depreciation, higher utility 
and power costs, and higher business permit tax. 
 
On a consolidated basis, personnel costs rose slightly by 0.4% to P=34.1 million. 
 
Other losses amounting to P=0.7 million is mainly due to unrealized foreign exchange loss movement during 
the period on the Company’s foreign-currency account with a broker abroad. 
 
The ₱6.0 million provision for deferred income tax represents adjustments to deferred tax assets arising 
from NOLCO and the Company’s projected ability to realize taxable income within the applicable carry-
over period, partially offset by temporary differences related to unrealized trading losses. 
 
As a result of the foregoing, CTS reported a net income of P= 20.4 million as of end September 2025, 
compared to P=63.1 million for the same period in 2024. 
 
Material Changes in Financial Condition (September 30, 2024 vs December 31, 2023) 
 
CTS’s asset base grew by 3.4%, or P=74.2 million, to P=2.3 billion by the end of September 2024 compared 
to its end December 2023 level. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents (including short-term time deposits) decreased by 15.1% to P=407.1 million as of 
end September 2024 from P=479.6 million as of end 2023 mainly due to the following: income before tax 
of P=64.2 million, net increase in equity securities held by P=220.2 million, decrease in trade receivables by 
P=101.5 million mainly due to deployment of deposit with other broker for purchase of equity securities, net 
increase in deposits by clients by P=26.0 million, adjustment for noncash income on unrealized gain on 
financial assets at FVPL, unrealized foreign exchange gain, and interest income to be received by P=3.5 
million, P= 2.0 million and P= 10.7 million, respectively, payment of cash dividends to CTS stockholders 
amounting to P= 18.1 million, and payments for leased office unit renovation costs and purchase of 
accounting and operations software amounting to P=4.5 million and P=2.4 million, respectively. 
 
Financial assets at FVPL increased to P=230.1 million as of end September 2024, up from P=7.0 million as 
of end 2023, primarily due to outstanding equity securities held locally and abroad. 
 
Trade receivables stood at P=290.9 million as of end September 2024, down from P=389.2 million as of end 
2023, mainly due to deployment of deposits with other brokers for purchasing equity securities in foreign 
stock markets. 
 
Investments in government fixed-income securities increased by 0.7% or by P=8.4 million primarily due to 
mark-to-market gain of P=10.3 million as of end September 2024 on government fixed-income securities 
classified as financial assets at fair value thru other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and net bond 
amortization of P=1.9 million. 
 
As of end September 2024, investments in government securities classified as financial assets at amortized 
cost (for held-to-maturity (HTM) investments) and financial assets at FVOCI (for purposes of collecting 
contractual cash flows/selling financial assets) amounted to P= 464.3 million and P= 769.4 million, 
respectively.  
 
The interest rates of investments in government securities at amortized cost and at FVOCI ranges from 
4.63% to 7.50% p.a. and 6.25% to 7.25% p.a., respectively. Additionally, cumulative unrealized gain on 
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI amounted to P=23.0 million as of end September 2024.  



CTS’ investments in government fixed-income securities are part of CTS’ strategy to boost interest income 
and cover CTS’ operating expenses as global inflation remains affecting market stability and debt securities 
market provided an alternative opportunity for fixed stream of income.  
 
CTS’ risk management on its investments in government securities includes diversifying, managing the 
duration, assessing credit risk, actively monitoring (of economic indicators and economic developments), 
and sizing positions appropriately, to mitigate the risks and increase the likelihood of achieving CTS’ 
investment objectives. 
  
Property and equipment increased by 12.5% mainly due to additional leased office space renovation costs 
amounting to P= 4.5 million and depreciation of P= 3.0 million. Investment property decreased by 5.4%, 
attributed to P=0.5 million in depreciation. Intangible assets increased by 70.0% mainly due to purchase of 
new accounting and operations software amounting to P=2.4 million. 
 
Net deferred tax asset decreased by 18.1% to P= 14.6 million as of end September 2024 compared to  
P=17.8 million as of end 2023. The account comprises of deferred tax assets, mainly from CTS’ net operating 
loss for carryover and retirement liability, amounting to P=21.0 million and P=6.9 million, respectively, and 
deferred tax liability, mainly from CTS’ unrealized gain on changes in fair value of financial assets at 
FVOCI and unrealized foreign exchange gains, amounting to P=5.8 million and P=7.8 million, respectively. 
 
Other current assets increased by 75.5% to P= 30.1 million as of end September 2024 compared to  
P=17.1 million as of end 2023. The account is generally composed of interest receivables of P=19.7 million 
from government fixed-income investments and excess tax credit of P=7.3 million. On the other hand, other 
noncurrent assets increased by P=0.8 million mainly due to refundable clearing fund contributions as of end 
September 2024. 
 
Total liabilities rose by 11.2% to P=213.7 million as of end September 2024, up from P=192.2 million as of 
end 2023. The net increase is primarily attributed to rise in client cash balances due to net portfolio sales, 
along with a decrease in accrued expenses and government payables as end-2023 amounts were settled in 
the first quarter of 2024. 
 
Stockholders’ equity went up by 2.6% to P= 2.1 billion as of end September 2024. This was driven by  
P=63.1 million in net income as of end September 2024, mark-to-market gain of P=7.7 million, net of tax, on 
investment in government fixed-income securities at FVOCI, and dividends paid to CTS stockholders in 
June 2024 amounting to P=18.2 million. 
 
Material Changes in the Results of Operations (September 30, 2024 vs September 30, 2023) 
 
CTS’s revenues improved by 125.3% to P=134.7 million as of end September 2024, up from P=59.8 million 
in the same period in 2023, primarily due to higher trading gains of P=60.1 million as of September 2024, 
compared to trading loss of P=20.5 million in the prior year. For the nine months ending September 2024, 
global markets showed mixed results influenced by various economic factors, including the U.S. Fed’s 
interest rate cut in September, positive corporate earnings, and stable U.S. employment data. In the 
Philippines, the PSEi saw moderate gains, supported by strong performance in the consumer goods and 
services sectors amid steady domestic demand. However, investor sentiment remained affected by 
persistent concerns over inflation, exchange rate pressures, and the effects of monetary policy adjustments. 
 
Cost of services increased by 12.0%, or P=5.3 million, primarily due to higher personnel costs recorded 
under cost of services and a rise in commission expenses, partially offset by a reduction in transaction costs 
related to trading. 

 
With revenues increasing at a faster rate than the cost of services, gross margin improved to 63.5% as of 
end September 2024, up from 26.7% at the end of September 2023. This represents an increase to  
P=85.6 million as of September 2024, compared to P=16.0 million in the same period in 2023. 
 



Operating expenses increased by 25.7%, or P=4.8 million, as of end September 2024, mainly due to higher 
personnel costs recorded under operating expenses, along with increased utility and power expenses and 
increased depreciation. 
 
On a consolidated basis, personnel costs rose to P=33.9 million as of the end of September 2024, up from  
P=28.3 million in the same period last year. This increase is primarily due to impact of employee salary 
adjustments implemented in the fourth quarter of 2023. 
 
Other income as of end September 2024 of P=2.0 million pertains to unrealized foreign exchange gain on 
the Company’s foreign-currency denominated deposits with a broker abroad. The exchange rates closed at 
P=55.892 and P=55.57 on September 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. 
 
Primarily due to higher gross profit of P= 85.6 million, despite increase in operating expenses by  
P=4.8 million, CTS booked an income before tax of P=64.2 million as of end September 2024 compared to  
P=3.2 million for the same period in 2023. 
 
The provision for current income tax of P= 0.4 million pertains to minimum corporate income tax. The 
Company reported a net operating loss position, for tax purposes, of ₱1.0 million as of end September 2024, 
as interest income from investments in government fixed-income securities and short-term time deposits is 
subject to a 20% final tax and is thus exempt from normal income tax computation. Meanwhile, the 
provision for deferred income tax is mainly due to unrealized foreign exchange gain as of end September 
2024. 
 
As a result of the foregoing movements, CTS’ reported a net income of P=63.1 million as of end September 
2024, reflecting a 252.5% increase compared to its net income of P=17.9 million for the same period in 2023. 
 
Other Matters 
 

a. CTS is not aware of any known trends, demands, commitments, events, or uncertainties that will 
have a material impact on the Company’s liquidity.   

 
b. The Company does not anticipate any cash flow or liquidity problem in the next 12 months. The 

Company is not in default or breach of any indebtedness or financing arrangement requiring 
payments. The Company has paid its trade payables within the trade terms stated. 

 
c. CTS is not aware of any events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is 

material to the Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 
 

d. CTS is not aware of any material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including 
contingent obligations), and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other 
persons created during the reporting period. 

 
e. CTS is not aware of any material commitments for capital expenditures. 

 
f. CTS is not aware of any known trends, events, or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 

expected to have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from 
continuing operations of the Company. 

 
g. CTS is not aware of any significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s 

continuing operations. 
 

h. CTS is not aware of any seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or 
results of operations of the Company. 

  
  



PART II – OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Not applicable.  There are no material disclosures that have not been reported under SEC Form 17-C 
covered by this period. 
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CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 
   
  September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
   Security ValuaƟon  Security ValuaƟon 
 Note Money Balance Long Short Money Balance Long Short 
ASSETS        
Current Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents 6  ₱436,606,573     P=440,287,230    
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 7  666,956,961  P=666,956,961   65,382,724  P=65,382,724  
Trade receivables   8  29,680,012  7,691,015   440,150,621  69,949,250  
Other current assets 10  32,504,058     17,788,920    
  Total Current Assets   1,165,747,604    963,609,495   
Noncurrent Assets        
Investments in government securiƟes 9  1,246,915,137     1,251,635,729    
Intangible assets    11  4,302,494     4,668,775    
Property and equipment    12  10,957,786      13,407,642    
Investment property 13  7,874,608      8,356,726    
Deferred Tax Assets - net 21    13,194,314     22,602,772    
Other noncurrent assets 14  14,002,562     13,277,080    
  Total Noncurrent Assets   1,297,246,901    1,313,948,724   
Total Assets   ₱2,462,994,505    P=2,277,558,219   

SecuriƟes in Vault, Transfer Offices, and Philippine 
Depository and Trust CorporaƟon    P=8,333,459,134   P=8,320,992,243 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        
Current LiabiliƟes        
Trade payables  15  ₱370,792,269  7,658,811,158   P=172,519,052  8,185,660,269  
Lease liabiliƟes - current porƟon 20  443,938      1,820,166    
Other current liabiliƟes   16  3,279,530     15,621,883    
  Total Current LiabiliƟes   374,515,737    189,961,101   
Noncurrent LiabiliƟes        
Lease liabiliƟes - net of current porƟon 20 532,662    14,850    
Net reƟrement benefit liability   19   30,816,504      30,924,504    
  Total Noncurrent LiabiliƟes   31,349,166    30,939,354   
  Total LiabiliƟes   405,864,903    220,900,455   
Equity        
Capital stock  4  687,500,000     687,500,000    
AddiƟonal paid-in capital  1,223,556,878    1,223,556,878    
Retained earnings:        
 Appropriated 4 20,680,849    14,227,456    
 Unappropriated   103,702,618       119,831,530    
Other equity reserves   21,689,257     11,541,900    
  Total Equity  2,057,129,602    2,056,657,764   
Total LiabiliƟes and Equity  ₱2,462,994,505  P=8,333,459,134 P=8,333,459,134 P=2,277,558,219 P=8,320,992,243 P=8,320,992,243 

       
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.  



 

 
 

CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
UNAUDITED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

  
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30 
For the Quarter Ended 

September 30 
Notes 2025 2024 2025 2024

REVENUES  
  
Interests  6 P=59,997,045 ₱68,652,497 P=19,074,206 ₱23,583,558
Trading gains on financial assets at FVPL - net 7 22,668,778 60,057,615 13,961,335 20,806,575
Dividends 7 12,035,449 2,938,853 5,726,743 390,578
Gain on sale of financial assets at FVOCI - net  5,777,157 – 6,264,051 –
Commissions  3,502,900 3,064,878 1,415,577 805,422
  103,981,329 134,713,843 46,441,912 45,586,133

COSTS OF SERVICES  
Personnel costs 18  23,836,769 23,730,856  6,760,588 6,723,926
Commissions   12,306,864 9,692,671  4,494,344 2,597,777
TransacƟon costs   9,944,274 9,977,798  3,327,175 3,302,481
Research  2,061,092 2,012,780 679,690 666,579
Stock exchange dues and fees    1,804,357  2,095,790 594,681 846,207
CommunicaƟons    889,840  890,290 296,613 296,613
Central depository fees    619,118 709,504 198,498 224,777
    51,462,314  49,109,689  16,351,589 14,658,360

GROSS PROFIT  52,519,015 85,604,154 30,090,323 30,927,773

OPERATING EXPENSES  
Personnel costs 18 10,215,758 10,170,367   2,897,395 2,881,683
Insurance and bonds  2,069,700 1,694,238 852,846 674,568
Condominium dues, power, and water     1,926,685   1,729,614   663,625 639,435
Trainings and seminars  1,506,122 1,063,562 324,612 433,007
Taxes and licenses  957,041 735,467 264,905 228,833
Security services  948,358 890,445 330,137 297,648
CommunicaƟons  610,089 622,950 212,255 211,431
Professional fees  472,000 270,000 372,000 170,000
Directors' fees  235,000 90,000 55,000 25,000
Membership fees and dues  212,567 240,982 71,522 65,500
SubscripƟons  211,144 197,536 72,799 67,643
Office supplies    164,622  248,809 68,841 88,749
Repairs and maintenance  162,926 219,819 40,039 157,298
Custodian fees  135,920 135,000  45,000 45,000
TransportaƟon and travel  100,093 90,643 58,175 50,173
Others  803,577 813,826 186,592 294,707
  20,731,602 19,213,258   6,515,743 6,330,675
DepreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon 11  4,541,768  4,000,464  1,478,386 1,509,123
Interest expense 20  112,527  187,183  8,308 41,180
Provision for credit losses 8  107,394  847  66,943 1,424
    25,493,291   23,401,752  8,069,380 7,882,402
 
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)  
Foreign exchange gains (losses) - net     (647,018) 1,974,215   10,182,839 (21,303,092)
Gain on sale of property and equipment  1,786 – 1,786 –
  (645,232) 1,974,215    10,184,625 (21,303,092)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX   P=26,380,492  ₱64,176,617 P=32,205,568 ₱1,742,279

 
(Forward) 
 
  



 

 
 

  
For the Nine Months Ended 

September 30 
For the Quarter Ended 

September 30 
Notes 2025 2024 2025 2024

INCOME TAX EXPENSE   
(BENEFIT FROM INCOME TAX)                       21   
Current  P=–   ₱433,540 P=– ₱259,388
Deferred   6,026,011 653,313  13,031,870 (5,035,443)
   6,026,011 1,086,853  13,031,870 (4,776,055)

NET INCOME   20,354,481 63,089,764 19,173,698 6,518,334

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
To be reclassified to profit or loss in 

subsequent periods   
Unrealized gain on changes in fair 

value of debt securiƟes at FVOCI 9 13,529,809 10,271,987 3,784,739 29,448,536
Deferred income tax expense  (3,382,452) (2,567,997) (946,184) (7,362,134)
  10,147,357 7,703,990 2,838,555 22,086,402

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  P=30,501,838 ₱70,793,754 P=22,012,253 ₱28,604,736
 

Basic/Diluted Earnings Per Share 22 P=0.002961 ₱0.009177 P=0.002789 ₱0.000948

  
 

See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.  
  
 
 



 

 
 
 
 

 

CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
UNAUDITED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 
(With ComparaƟve Figures for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024) 

 
       Other Equity Reserves  
       CumulaƟve    
       Unrealized  CumulaƟve   
       Gain on  Remeasurement   
     Changes  Gain on   
   AddiƟonal Retained Earnings in Fair Value of   ReƟrement   
 Note Capital Stock Paid-In Capital Appropriated Unappropriated Total FA at FVOCI  Benefit Liability  Total Equity 
Balances at December 31, 2024   P=687,500,000   P=1,223,556,878   P=14,227,456   P=119,831,530   P=134,058,986  P=9,613,643 P=1,928,257 P=2,056,657,764 
DeclaraƟon of cash dividends 4 – – –  (30,030,000)  (30,030,000) – – (30,030,000) 
Net income  – – –  20,354,481   20,354,481  – – 20,354,481 
AppropriaƟon 4 – –  6,453,393   (6,453,393) – – – – 
Other comprehensive income 9 – – – – – 10,147,357 – 10,147,357 
Balances at September 30, 2025   P=687,500,000   P=1,223,556,878   P=20,680,849   P=103,702,618   P=124,383,467    P=19,761,000 P=1,928,257 P=2,057,129,602 
          
         
       Other Equity Reserves  
       CumulaƟve    
       Unrealized   CumulaƟve   
       Gain on Remeasurement  
       Changes Gain on  
   AddiƟonal Retained Earnings in Fair Value of   ReƟrement   
 Note Capital Stock Paid-In Capital Appropriated Unappropriated Total FA at FVOCI  Benefit Liability  Total Equity 
Balances at December 31, 2023  ₱687,500,000 ₱1,223,556,878 ₱11,927,718 ₱75,747,336 ₱87,675,054 ₱9,561,051 ₱1,106,973 ₱2,009,399,956 
DeclaraƟon of cash dividends 4 – – – (18,150,000) (18,150,000) – – (18,150,000) 
Net income  – – – 63,089,764 63,089,764 – – 63,089,764 
AppropriaƟon 4 – – 2,299,738 (2,299,738) – – – – 
Other comprehensive income  9 – – – – – 7,703,990 – 7,703,990 
Balances at September 30, 2024  ₱687,500,000 ₱1,223,556,878 ₱14,227,456 ₱118,387,362 ₱132,614,818 ₱17,265,041 ₱1,106,973 ₱2,062,043,710 
          
 
  



 

 
 
 
 

CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
UNAUDITED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 
  For the Nine Months Ended September 30
 Note  2025 2024 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Income before income tax   P=26,380,492 ₱64,176,617 
Adjustments for:    
 Interest income 6  (59,997,045) (68,652,497) 

Dividend income 7  (12,035,449) (2,938,853) 
Unrealized fair value losses (gains) on financial 
assets at FVPL - net 7  7,937,810 (3,454,480) 
DepreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon 11  4,541,768 4,000,464 

 Unrealized foreign exchange losses (gains) -  net   647,018 (1,974,215) 
Provision for credit losses 8  107,394 847 
Interest expense 20  50,226 144,039 
Gain on disposal of equipment   (1,786) – 

OperaƟng loss before working capital changes   (32,369,572) (8,698,078) 
Decrease (increase) in:    
 Financial assets at FVPL   (598,852,099) (220,162,538) 
 Trade receivables   399,084,623 101,521,022 
 Other noncurrent assets   (725,482) (766,899) 
 Other current assets   (409,550) (259,815) 
Increase (decrease) in:    
 Trade payables     198,273,217 25,951,835 
 Other current liabiliƟes     (12,342,353) (3,053,595) 
Net cash used for operaƟons     (47,341,216) (105,468,068) 
Interest received    47,865,751 57,904,570 
Dividend received     11,993,742 2,978,596 
ContribuƟon to the reƟrement fund   (108,000) – 
Income taxes paid   (8,430) (436,985) 
Net cash provided by (used in) operaƟng acƟviƟes   12,401,847 (45,021,887) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
AcquisiƟons of:      

Investments in government securiƟes 9  (874,865,017) – 
Property and equipment 12  (243,115) (4,508,676) 
Intangible assets   (187,500) (2,441,071) 

Proceeds from:    
Sale of investment in government securiƟes 9  890,976,346 – 
Proceeds from disposal of equipment   1,786 – 

 Net cash provided by (used in) invesƟng acƟviƟes   15,682,500 (6,949,747) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Payment of cash dividends    (30,030,000) (18,150,000) 
Payments of lease liabiliƟes 20    (1,721,540) (1,648,361) 
Net cash used in financing acƟviƟes     (31,751,540) (19,798,361) 
    
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND  

CASH EQUIVALENTS   (3,667,193) (71,769,995) 
EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND 

CASH EQUIVALENTS   (13,464) (798,333) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  

BEGINNING OF YEAR   440,287,230 479,631,777 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 6  P=436,606,573 ₱407,063,449 
     
See accompanying Notes to Financial Statements.   



 

 
 

CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
 
1. Corporate InformaƟon 

CTS Global Equity Group, Inc. (the Company), doing business under the trade names and styles of 
CTS Global, CTS Global EquiƟes, CTS Global SecuriƟes, CTS SecuriƟes, and CiƟsecuriƟes doing 
business under the trade names and styles of CTS Global, CTS Global EquiƟes, CTS Global SecuriƟes, 
CTS SecuriƟes, and CiƟsecuriƟes, was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SecuriƟes and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) on October 22, 1975.  The Company is a licensed broker/dealer of 
securiƟes with the SEC, and both a stockholder and holder of a trading right of the Philippine Stock 
Exchange (PSE).   

On April 13, 2022, the Company was listed in the PSE under the stock symbol CTS. The Company 
listed 1,375.0 million common shares at an offer price of P=1.00 per share (see Note 4). 

The registered office address of the Company is 27/F East Tower, Philippine Stock Exchange Centre, 
Exchange Road, OrƟgas Center, Pasig City.  

 
2. Summary of Material AccounƟng Policy InformaƟon 

Basis of PreparaƟon  
The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial ReporƟng 
Standards (PFRS) AccounƟng Standards issued by the Philippine Financial and Sustainability 
ReporƟng Standards Council and adopted by the SEC.  This financial reporƟng framework includes 
PFRS, Philippine AccounƟng Standards (PAS) and Philippine InterpretaƟon from InternaƟonal 
Financial ReporƟng InterpretaƟons CommiƩee (IFRIC). 
 
The statements of financial posiƟon contain some addiƟonal informaƟon in line with the 
requirements of Rule 52.1 of the ImplemenƟng Rules and RegulaƟons of the SecuriƟes RegulaƟon 
Code (SRC).  

Measurement Bases 
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), the Company’s funcƟonal currency.  
All values are stated in absolute amounts, unless otherwise indicated. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for: 
 
 Financial assets measured at FVPL; 
 Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); 
 ReƟrement benefit liability that is carried at the present value of defined benefit obligaƟon less 

fair value of plan assets; and 
 Lease liabiliƟes that are carried at iniƟal recogniƟon at the present value of the remaining lease 

payments, discounted using an appropriate discount rate. 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideraƟon given in exchange for an asset 
and fair value of the consideraƟon received in exchange for incurring a liability.  Fair value is the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transacƟon between 
market parƟcipants at the measurement date. 

The Company uses observable market data to the extent possible when measuring the fair value of 
an asset or a liability.  Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based 
on inputs used in the following valuaƟon techniques: 



 

 
 

 Level 1 − Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in acƟve markets for idenƟcal assets or liabiliƟes; 
 Level 2 − ValuaƟon techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable; or 
 Level 3 − ValuaƟon techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is unobservable. 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability might be categorized in different 
levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its enƟrety in the 
same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the enƟre 
measurement. 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 
reporƟng period during which the change has occurred. 

Further informaƟon about the assumpƟons made in measuring fair values is disclosed in  
the following notes to the financial statements: 

 Note 5 - Fair Value Measurement 
 Note 7 - Financial Assets at FVPL 
 Note 9 - Investments in Government SecuriƟes 
 Note 13 - Investment Property 

New and Amendments to PFRS AccounƟng Standards in Issue But Not Yet EffecƟve or Adopted 
Relevant new and amendments to PFRS AccounƟng Standards, which are not yet effecƟve as at 
January 1, 2025 and have not been applied in preparing the financial statements, are summarized 
below: 

EffecƟve for annual periods beginning on or aŌer January 1, 2026: 

 Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments, and PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – 
ClassificaƟon and Measurement of Financial Assets – The amendments clarify that a financial 
liability is derecognized when the related obligaƟon is discharged or cancelled, expires or 
otherwise qualifies for derecogniƟon (e.g. seƩlement date), and introduce a policy opƟon to 
derecognize financial liabiliƟes seƩled through an electronic payment system before seƩlement 
date if the required condiƟons are met.  The amendments also clarify the assessment of 
contractual cash flow characterisƟcs of financial assets and the treatment of non-recourse loans 
and contractually linked instruments, as well as require addiƟonal disclosure requirements for 
financial assets and liabiliƟes with conƟngent features and equity instruments classified at FVOCI. 
Earlier applicaƟon is permiƩed. 

 Annual Improvements to PFRS AccounƟng Standards Volume 11: 
 
o Amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures – The amendments update and 

remove some obsolete references related to the gain or loss on derecogniƟon on financial 
assets of an enƟty that has a conƟnuing involvement and to the disclosure requirements on 
deferred differences between fair value and transacƟon price. The amendments also clarify 
that the illustraƟve guidance does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements for credit 
risk disclosure. Earlier applicaƟon is permiƩed. 

 
o Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments – TransacƟon Price and Lessee DerecogniƟon 

of Lease LiabiliƟes – The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease 
liability has been exƟnguished in accordance with PFRS 9, the lessee must apply the 
derecogniƟon criteria for a financial liability which requires recogniƟon of a gain or loss in 
profit or loss. The amendments also replace the reference to ‘transacƟon price as defined by 



 

 
 

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ to ‘the amount determined by applying 
PFRS 15’ to remove potenƟal confusion. Earlier applicaƟon is permiƩed. 

 
o Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Cost Method – The amendments replace 

the term ‘cost method’ with ‘at cost’ following the deleƟon of the definiƟon of ‘cost method’. 
Earlier applicaƟon is permiƩed. 

EffecƟve for annual periods beginning on or aŌer January 1, 2027 - 

• PFRS 18, PresentaƟon and Disclosure in Financial Statements – This standard replaces PAS 1, 
PresentaƟon of Financial Statements, and sets out the requirements for the presentaƟon and 
disclosure of informaƟon to help ensure that the financial statements provide relevant 
informaƟon that faithfully represents the enƟty’s assets, liabiliƟes, equity, income, and 
expenses. The standard introduces new categories and sub-totals in the statements of 
comprehensive income, disclosures on management-defined performance measures, and new 
principles for grouping of informaƟon, which the enƟty needs to apply retrospecƟvely. Earlier 
applicaƟon is permiƩed. 

Under prevailing circumstances, the adopƟon of the foregoing new and amendments to PFRS 
AccounƟng Standards is not expected to have any material effect on the financial statements of the 
Company.  AddiƟonal disclosures will be included in the financial statements, as applicable. 

ClassificaƟon of Assets and LiabiliƟes between Current and Noncurrent 
The Company presents current and noncurrent assets, and current and noncurrent liabiliƟes,  
as separate classificaƟons in the notes to financial statements.  

Current Assets. The Company classifies an asset as current when:  

 It expects to realize the asset, or intends to sell or consume it, in its normal operaƟng cycle;    
 It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading;   
 It expects to realize the asset within 12 months aŌer the reporƟng period; or    
 The asset is cash or a cash equivalent unless the asset is restricted from being exchanged or used 

to seƩle a liability for at least 12 months aŌer the reporƟng period.    

Otherwise, the Company will classify all other assets as noncurrent.      
 

Current LiabiliƟes. The Company classifies a liability as current when:    

 It expects to seƩle the liability in its normal operaƟng cycle; 
 It holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading;    
 The liability is due to be seƩled within 12 months aŌer the reporƟng period; or    
 It does not have an uncondiƟonal right to defer seƩlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

aŌer the reporƟng period. Terms of a liability that could, at the opƟon of the counterparty, result 
in its seƩlement by the issue of equity instruments do not affect its classificaƟon.    

Otherwise, the Company will classify all other liabiliƟes as noncurrent. 

Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enƟty or a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another enƟty.  

Date of RecogniƟon.  The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the 
statements of financial posiƟon when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 
instrument.  In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of financial assets, recogniƟon and 
derecogniƟon, as applicable, is done using seƩlement date accounƟng. 



 

 
 

“Day 1” Difference.  Where the transacƟon in a non-acƟve market is different from the fair value of 
other observable current market transacƟons in the same instrument or based on a valuaƟon 
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the 
difference between the transacƟon price and fair value (a “Day 1” difference) in profit or loss.   
In cases where there is no observable data on incepƟon, the Company deems the transacƟon price 
as the best esƟmate of fair value and recognizes the “Day 1” difference in profit or loss when the 
inputs become observable or when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transacƟon, the 
Company determines the appropriate method of recognizing the “Day 1” difference. 

Financial Assets 

IniƟal RecogniƟon and Measurement.  Financial assets are recognized iniƟally at fair value, which is 
the fair value of the consideraƟon given.  The iniƟal measurement of financial instruments, except 
for those designated at FVPL, includes transacƟon cost. 

ClassificaƟon.  The Company classifies its financial assets at iniƟal recogniƟon under the following 
categories: (a) financial assets at amorƟzed cost, (b) financial assets at FVPL, and (c) financial assets 
at FVOCI.  

The classificaƟon of a financial instrument largely depends on the Company’s business model and its 
contractual cash flow characterisƟcs. 

Financial Assets at AmorƟzed Cost.  Financial assets shall be measured at amorƟzed cost if both of 
the following condiƟons are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objecƟve is to hold financial assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows; and  

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets at amorƟzed cost are subsequently measured at amorƟzed cost using the effecƟve 
interest method, less any allowance for credit and impairment losses.  AmorƟzed cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisiƟon and fees that are an integral part of 
the effecƟve interest rate.   
 
Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the financial assets are derecognized and 
through amorƟzaƟon process.  Financial assets at amorƟzed cost are included under current assets 
if realizability or collectability is within 12 months aŌer the reporƟng period.  Otherwise, these are 
classified as noncurrent assets. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, certain government securiƟes, interest receivables, receivables from employees, and 
dividends receivable (included under “Other current assets” account in the statements of financial 
posiƟon), and refundable deposits (included under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the 
statements of financial posiƟon) are classified under this category (see Notes 6, 8, 9, 10, and 14). 

Financial Assets at FVPL.  Financial assets at FVPL are either classified as held for trading or 
designated at FVPL.  A financial instrument is classified as held for trading if it meets either of the 
following condiƟons: 

 It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term;  
 On iniƟal recogniƟon, it is part of a porƞolio of idenƟfied financial instruments that are managed 

together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual paƩern of short-term profit-taking; 
or  



 

 
 

 It is a derivaƟve (except for a derivaƟve that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effecƟve hedging instrument). 

This category includes equity instruments that the Company had not irrevocably elected to classify 
at FVOCI at iniƟal recogniƟon.   

Dividends from equity instruments held at FVPL are recognized in profit or loss when the right to 
receive payment is established, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost 
of the investment.    

Financial assets at FVPL are subsequently measured at fair value.  Gains or losses arising from the fair 
valuaƟon of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in profit or loss. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s investments in various listed 
equity securiƟes are classified under this category (see Note 7). 

Financial Assets at FVOCI.  For debt instruments that meet the contractual cash flow characterisƟc 
and are not designated at FVPL under the fair value opƟon, the financial assets are measured at 
FVOCI if both of the following condiƟons are met: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objecƟve is achieved by both collecƟng 
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
These debt securiƟes are iniƟally measured at fair value plus transacƟon costs. AŌer iniƟal 
recogniƟon, interest income (calculated using the effecƟve interest rate method) and impairment 
gains or losses of debt instruments measured at FVOCI are recognized directly in profit or loss.  
Fair value changes are recognized in OCI and presented in the equity secƟon of the statements of 
financial posiƟon. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulaƟve gains or losses previously 
recognized in OCI are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassificaƟon adjustment. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, certain investments in government securiƟes are 
classified under this category (see Note 9). 
 
ReclassificaƟon.  The Company reclassifies its financial assets only when it changes its business model 
for managing those financial assets.  The reclassificaƟon is applied prospecƟvely from the first day of 
the first reporƟng period following the change in the business model (reclassificaƟon date). 

 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amorƟzed cost category to financial 
assets at FVPL, any gain or loss arising from the difference between the previous amorƟzed cost of 
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at amorƟzed cost category to financial 
assets at FVOCI, any gain or loss arising from a difference between the previous amorƟzed cost of 
the financial asset and fair value is recognized in OCI. 
 
For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVPL category to financial assets at 
FVOCI, its fair value at the reclassificaƟon date becomes its new gross carrying amount. Meanwhile,  
for a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 
FVPL, the cumulaƟve gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or 
loss as a reclassificaƟon adjustment at the reclassificaƟon date. 
 
 



 

 
 

For a financial asset reclassified out of the financial assets at FVOCI category to financial assets at 
amorƟzed cost, any gain or loss previously recognized in OCI, and any difference between the new 
amorƟzed cost and maturity amount, are amorƟzed to profit or loss over the remaining life of the 
investment using the effecƟve interest method. If the financial asset is subsequently impaired,  
any gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. 

 
In the case of a financial asset that does not have a fixed maturity, the gain or loss shall be recognized 
in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold or disposed. If the financial asset is subsequently 
impaired, any previous gain or loss that has been recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss. 

Impairment of Financial Assets at AmorƟzed Cost.  For trade receivables, the Company has applied 
the simplified approach, and has calculated the expected credit losses (ECL) based on lifeƟme ECL.   
The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to its customers and the economic environment. 

 
For other financial assets measured at amorƟzed cost, the Company applies a general approach in 
calculaƟng ECL.  The Company recognizes a loss allowance based on either 12-month ECL or lifeƟme 
ECL, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on its other receivables 
since iniƟal recogniƟon. 

 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due, 
unless it is demonstrated that the non-payment was an administraƟve oversight rather than resulƟng 
from financial difficulty of the borrower.  However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider 
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external informaƟon indicates that the Company is 
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit 
enhancements held by the Company.   
 
A financial asset is wriƩen off when there is no reasonable expectaƟon of recovering the contractual 
cash flows. 

DerecogniƟon.  A financial asset (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized when:  

 The right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;  
 The Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the financial asset, but has assumed 

an obligaƟon to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; or 

 The Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the financial asset and either  
(a) has transferred substanƟally all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substanƟally all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

When the Company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from a financial asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substanƟally all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset nor transferred control of the financial asset, 
the financial asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s conƟnuing involvement in the 
financial asset.  ConƟnuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 
financial asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the financial asset and the 
maximum amount of consideraƟon that the Company could be required to repay. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
 

Financial LiabiliƟes 

IniƟal RecogniƟon and Measurement.  Financial liabiliƟes are recognized iniƟally at fair value,  
which is the fair value of the consideraƟon received.  In case of financial liabiliƟes at amorƟzed cost, 
the iniƟal measurement is net of any directly aƩributable transacƟon costs. 

ClassificaƟon.  The Company classifies its financial liabiliƟes at iniƟal recogniƟon as either financial 
liabiliƟes at FVPL or financial liabiliƟes at amorƟzed cost. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company does not have financial liabiliƟes at 
FVPL. 

Financial LiabiliƟes at AmorƟzed Cost.  Financial liabiliƟes are categorized as financial liabiliƟes at 
amorƟzed cost when the substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Company having 
an obligaƟon either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to seƩle the obligaƟon 
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number 
of its own equity instruments. 

These financial liabiliƟes are iniƟally recognized at fair value less any directly aƩributable transacƟon 
costs.  AŌer iniƟal recogniƟon, these financial liabiliƟes are subsequently measured at amorƟzed cost 
using the effecƟve interest method.  AmorƟzed cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effecƟve interest rate. 

Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabiliƟes are derecognized or through the 
amorƟzaƟon process. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s trade payables, other current 
liabiliƟes (excluding statutory payables), and lease liabiliƟes are classified under this category (see 
Notes 15, 16, and 20). 

DerecogniƟon.  A financial liability is derecognized when the obligaƟon under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled, or has expired.  When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 

ClassificaƟon of Financial Instrument between Liability and Equity.  A financial instrument is classified 
as liability if it provides for a contractual obligaƟon to: 
 
 Deliver cash or another financial asset to another enƟty;  
 Exchange financial assets or financial liabiliƟes with another enƟty under condiƟons that are 

potenƟally unfavorable to the Company; or  
 SaƟsfy the obligaƟon other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial 

asset for a fixed number of own equity shares. 

If the Company does not have an uncondiƟonal right to avoid delivering cash or another financial 
asset to seƩle its contractual obligaƟon, the obligaƟon meets the definiƟon of a financial liability. 
 

  



 

 
 

Offseƫng of Financial Assets and LiabiliƟes 
Financial assets and financial liabiliƟes are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of 
financial posiƟon if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized 
amounts, and there is intenƟon to seƩle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and seƩle the liability 
simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with master neƫng agreements, and the related assets 
and liabiliƟes are presented gross in the statements of financial posiƟon. 

Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets pertain to soŌware and licenses, and exchange trading right.  

SoŌware and Licenses.  SoŌware and licenses are measured on iniƟal recogniƟon at cost.  Subsequent 
to iniƟal recogniƟon, soŌware and licenses are carried at cost less accumulated amorƟzaƟon and any 
accumulated impairment losses. SoŌware and licenses are amorƟzed over its esƟmated economic 
life of 10 years and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indicaƟon that the soŌware and 
licenses may be impaired.  

The amorƟzaƟon period and method are reviewed at least at each reporƟng date.  Changes in the 
expected economic life or the expected paƩern of consumpƟon of future economic benefits 
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amorƟzaƟon period or method,  
as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounƟng esƟmates.  

Exchange Trading Right.  Exchange trading right is iniƟally measured at cost.  It is an intangible asset 
with indefinite useful life, and is tested for impairment annually.  Exchange trading right is not 
amorƟzed but is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.  The exchange trading 
right is deemed to have indefinite useful lives as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which 
the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows for the Company.  The assumpƟon that the 
exchange trading right remains to be an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually 
to determine whether this conƟnues to be supportable as such.  If not, the carrying amount of the 
asset is amorƟzed over its remaining useful life on a straight-line basis unless a more appropriate 
amorƟzaƟon method is warranted.  Any impairment losses determined are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

Property and Equipment 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciaƟon, amorƟzaƟon, and any 
impairment losses. 

The iniƟal cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, aŌer deducƟng trade 
discounts and rebates, and any directly aƩributable costs of bringing the asset to its working 
condiƟon and locaƟon for its intended use.   

Expenditures incurred aŌer the property and equipment have been put into operaƟon, such as 
repairs and maintenance costs, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year these are 
incurred.  In situaƟons where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in 
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the expenditures 
are capitalized as addiƟonal costs of property and equipment.   

  



 

 
 

DepreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon are computed using the straight-line method over the following 
esƟmated useful lives of the property and equipment: 

 
 Number of Years 
Office condominium units and improvements 10 to 20 
Leasehold improvements 10 or lease term, 

whichever is shorter 
Furniture, fixtures, and office equipment 2 to 5 

The esƟmated useful lives and depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon method are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that these are consistent with the expected paƩern of economic benefits from items of 
property and equipment. 

Fully-depreciated assets are retained in the account unƟl they are no longer in use and no further 
change for depreciaƟon is made in respect of those assets. 

When assets are reƟred or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciaƟon 
and amorƟzaƟon, and any accumulated impairment losses are removed from the accounts.   
Any resulƟng gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Investment Property  
Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciaƟon or both, 
but not for sale in the ordinary course of business or for administraƟve purposes.  

Investment property is measured iniƟally at cost, including transacƟon costs. Subsequent to iniƟal 
recogniƟon, investment property is measured at cost, less accumulated depreciaƟon and any 
impairment in value.  The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of an exisƟng 
investment property at the Ɵme that cost is incurred if the recogniƟon criteria are met, and excludes 
the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.   

DepreciaƟon of investment property is calculated on a straight-line basis over a 20-year esƟmated 
useful life.  The esƟmated useful life and depreciaƟon method are reviewed periodically to ensure 
that these are consistent with expected paƩern of economic benefits of investment property. 
Investment property is derecognized when either they have been disposed of or the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from their 
disposal.  Any gains or losses on the reƟrement or disposal of investment property are recognized in 
profit or loss in the period of reƟrement or disposal.  

Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced 
by the end of owner-occupaƟon or commencement of an operaƟng lease to another party.  Transfers 
are made from investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the 
commencement of owner-occupaƟon or commencement of development with a view to sell.  

For transfers from investment property to owner-occupied properƟes or inventories, the cost for 
subsequent accounƟng is its carrying amount at the date of change in use.  If the property occupied 
by the Company as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Company 
accounts for such in accordance with the policy under property and equipment up to the date of 
change in use. 

  



 

 
 

Other Nonfinancial Assets 
Other nonfinancial assets pertain to excess tax credits and prepayments. 
 
Excess Tax Credits.  Excess tax credits pertain to creditable withholding tax (CWT) and prepaid income 
tax. CWT pertains to tax on the Company’s income withheld and remiƩed to the Bureau of Internal 
Revenue (BIR) by customers and deducted from income tax payable on the same year the income 
was recognized. Prepaid income tax pertains to excess income tax payments of the Company over 
the amount due. Unapplied or excess income tax payments are carried forward and can be uƟlized 
in succeeding years. 
 
Prepayments.  Prepayments are expenses paid in advance and recorded as assets before these are 
uƟlized.  Prepayments are apporƟoned over the period covered by the payment and included in 
profit or loss when incurred.  Prepayments that are expected to be realized for not more than  
12 months aŌer the financial reporƟng period are classified as current assets.  Otherwise, these are 
classified as noncurrent assets.   
  

 Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 
The carrying amounts of nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, except for the exchange 
trading right where test of impairment is done annually.  If any such indicaƟon exists and when the 
carrying amounts exceed the esƟmated recoverable amounts, the assets or cash-generaƟng units 
(CGU) are wriƩen down to their recoverable amounts.  The recoverable amount of the asset is the 
greater of the fair value less cost to sell or value in use.  The fair value less cost to sell is the amount 
that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transacƟon between parƟcipants at the 
measurement date less costs of disposal. Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows 
expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generaƟng unit. In assessing value in use, the esƟmated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the Ɵme value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an 
asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs.  Impairment losses are recognized in profit or 
loss. 

An assessment is made at each reporƟng date as to whether there is any indicaƟon that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indicaƟon exists, 
the recoverable amount is esƟmated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the esƟmates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognized.  In such instance, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount.  However, that increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon, had no impairment 
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognized in profit or loss.  AŌer 
such reversal, the depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon charges are adjusted in future years to allocate the 
asset’s revised carrying amount, on a systemaƟc basis over its remaining useful life. 

Value-Added Tax (VAT)  
VAT is a tax on consumpƟon levied on the sale, barter, exchange, or lease of goods or properƟes and 
services, and on importaƟon of goods in the Philippines.  It is an indirect tax, which may be shiŌed 
or passed on to the buyer, transferee or lessee of goods, properƟes or services. 

Revenue, expenses, and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT, except: 

 Where the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxaƟon 
authority, in which case the tax is recognized as part of the cost of acquisiƟon of the asset or as 
part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of VAT included. 



 

 
 

The net amount of VAT payable to the taxaƟon authority is included as part of “Other current 
liabiliƟes” accounts in the statements of financial posiƟon. 

Equity 

Capital Stock.  Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued and outstanding. 

AddiƟonal Paid-in Capital (APIC).  APIC represents the proceeds and/or fair value of consideraƟon 
received in excess of the par value of the shares issued. Incremental costs directly aƩributable to the 
issuance of new common stocks are recognized as deducƟon to APIC, net of any tax effects. 

 
Retained Earnings.  Retained earnings represent the cumulaƟve balance of net income or loss, net 
of any dividend declaraƟons.  At each reporƟng date, net income or loss of the Company is 
transferred to retained earnings.   

Appropriated retained earnings pertain to the restricted porƟon which is intended for the reserve 
fund in compliance with the SRC Rule 49.1 (B). Unappropriated retained earnings pertain to the 
unrestricted porƟon available for dividend declaraƟon.   

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).  Other comprehensive income (loss) consists of items of income 
and expense that are not recognized in profit and loss in accordance with PFRS AccounƟng Standards. 
Other comprehensive income (loss) of the Company pertains to cumulaƟve unrealized gains or losses 
on changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI, net of related deferred tax, and cumulaƟve 
remeasurement gains or losses on reƟrement liability, net of related deferred tax, which is presented 
as "Other equity reserves". 

Revenue RecogniƟon 
Revenue from contract with customers is recognized when the performance obligaƟon in the 
contract has been saƟsfied, either at a point in Ɵme or over Ɵme.  Revenue is recognized over Ɵme 
if one of the following criteria is met: (a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the 
benefits as the Company perform its obligaƟons; (b) the Company’s performance creates or 
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or (c) the 
Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternaƟve use to the Company and the 
Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.  Otherwise, 
revenue is recognized at a point in Ɵme. 

The Company also assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acƟng as a principal or as 
an agent.  The Company has assessed that it acts as agent in its brokerage transacƟons.  The Company 
acts as a principal in its income from other sources. 

Commissions.  These pertain to the revenue from brokerage transacƟons, which are recorded on 
trade date basis as trade transacƟon occurs. 

The following specific recogniƟon criteria must also be met for other revenues: 

Interests.  Interest income is recognized in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the effecƟve 
yield of the asset, net of final tax. 

Trading Gains or Losses on Financial Assets at FVPL.  Trading gains or losses on financial assets at 
FVPL include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and disposal of financial assets at FVPL.  
Unrealized gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss upon remeasurement of the financial assets 
at FVPL at each reporƟng date.  Gains or losses from sale of financial assets at FVPL are recognized 
in profit or loss upon confirmaƟon of trade deals. 

Dividends.  Dividend income is recognized when the Company’s right to receive the payment is 



 

 
 

established. 

Client Advisory Income.  These are generally recognized over the period when the related service is 
provided.  

Other Income.  Income from other sources is recognized when earned during the period. 
 
Cost and Expense RecogniƟon 
Costs and expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit 
related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.  

Costs of Services.  Costs of services such as direct personnel costs, commissions, transacƟon costs, 
research costs, stock exchange dues and fees, central depository fees, and communicaƟon costs are 
recognized when the related revenue is recognized or when the service is rendered. 

OperaƟng Expenses.  OperaƟng expenses incurred by the Company such as indirect personnel costs, 
uƟlity costs, and other operaƟng expenses are administraƟve overhead costs and recognized in profit 
or loss when incurred.  

Employee Benefits 

Short-term Benefits.  The Company recognizes short-term employee benefits based on contractual 
arrangements with employees.  Any unpaid porƟon of the short-term employee benefits is measured 
on an undiscounted basis and included as part of “Other current liabiliƟes” account in the statements 
of financial posiƟon.  

ReƟrement Benefits.  ReƟrement benefit costs are actuarially determined using the projected unit 
credit method.  This method reflects services rendered by employees up to the date of valuaƟon and 
incorporates assumpƟons concerning employees’ projected salaries.  The calculaƟon of defined 
benefit liability is performed annually by a qualified actuary.  When the calculaƟon results in a 
potenƟal asset for the Company, the recognized asset is limited to the present value of economic 
benefits available in the form of any future refunds from the plan or reducƟons in the future 
contribuƟons to the plan.  To calculate the present value of economic benefits, consideraƟon is given 
to any applicable minimum funding requirements.  

The Company recognizes service costs, comprising of current service costs and past service costs in 
profit or loss. Net interest costs on reƟrement benefit liability is presented as part of  
“Interest expense” account in the statements of comprehensive income. 

The Company determines the net interest expense by applying the discount rate to the net defined 
liability at the beginning of the year, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability during the period as a result of contribuƟons and benefit payments. 

Remeasurements of the net reƟrement benefit liability, comprising of actuarial gains and losses, 
return on plan assets (excluding interest), and effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest),  
are recognized immediately in OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulƟng change in benefit 
that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognized immediately in profit or 
loss.  The Company recognizes gains and losses on the seƩlement of a defined benefit plan when the 
seƩlement occurs. 

The net reƟrement benefit liability recognized by the Company is the aggregate of the present value 
of the defined benefit liability reduced by the fair value of plan assets, out of which the obligaƟons 
are to be seƩled directly.  The present value of the defined benefit liability is determined by 



 

 
 

discounƟng the esƟmated future cash ouƞlows using risk-free interest rates of government bonds 
that have terms to maturity approximaƟng the terms of the related reƟrement benefit liability.  
Actuarial valuaƟons are made so that the amounts recognized in the financial statements do not 
differ materially from the amounts that would be determined at the reporƟng date. 

Leases 
The Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease at the incepƟon of the contract.  
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an idenƟfied assets for a period 
of Ɵme, the Company assesses whether, throughout the period of use, it has both of the following: 

 The right to obtain substanƟally all of the economic benefits from use of the idenƟfied asset; and 
 The right to direct the use of the idenƟfied asset. 

If the Company has the right to control the use of an idenƟfied asset for only a porƟon of the term 
of the contract, the contract contains a lease for that porƟon of the term. 

The Company also assesses whether a contract contains a lease for each potenƟal separate lease 
component.  The Company recognizes a right-of-use (ROU) asset and a corresponding lease liability 
with respect to all lease agreements in which it is the lessee. 

Company as a Lessee.  At the commencement date, the Company recognizes an ROU asset and a 
lease liability for all leases, except for leases with lease terms of 12 months or less (short-term leases) 
and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value in which case the lease payments associated 
with those leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis. 

ROU Assets.  At commencement date of the lease contract, the Company measures an ROU asset 
(presented as part of property and equipment account) at cost.  The iniƟal measurement of ROU 
assets includes the following: 

 The amount of the iniƟal measurement of lease liability; 
 Lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incenƟves received;  
 IniƟal direct costs; and 
 An esƟmaƟon of costs to be incurred by the Company in dismantling and removing the 

underlying asset, when applicable. 

AŌer the commencement date, the ROU assets are carried at cost less any accumulated depreciaƟon 
and any accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the related lease 
liabiliƟes.  The ROU assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms or the useful lives of 
the underlying assets. 

Lease LiabiliƟes.  At commencement date, the Company measures a lease liability at the present 
value of future lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily 
determined.  Otherwise, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of a lease liability comprise the following: 

 Fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, iniƟally measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date;  
 Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; and 
 The exercise price under a purchase opƟon that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease 

payments in an opƟonal renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension opƟon, and penalƟes for early terminaƟon of a lease unless the Company is reasonable 
certain not to terminate early. 



 

 
 

 
A lease liability is subsequently measured at amorƟzed cost. Interest expense on the lease liability 
and any variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liability are recognized in 
profit or loss, unless these are capitalized as costs of another asset.  Variable lease payments not 
included in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in profit or loss when the event or 
condiƟon that triggers those payments occurs. 

 
If there is a change in the lease term or if there is a change in the assessment of an opƟon to purchase 
the underlying asset, the lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate considering the 
revised lease payments on the basis of the revised lease term or reflecƟng the change in amounts 
payable under the purchase opƟon.  The lease liability is also remeasured using the revised lease 
payments if there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee or a change in future lease payments resulƟng from a change in an index or a rate used to 
determine those payments. 

Income Taxes 

Current Tax.  Current tax assets and liabiliƟes are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxaƟon authoriƟes.  The tax rate and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that have been enacted or substanƟvely enacted at the reporƟng date. 

Deferred Tax.  Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporƟng date between 
the tax bases of assets and liabiliƟes and their carrying amounts for financial reporƟng purposes. 

Deferred tax liabiliƟes are recognized for all taxable temporary differences that are expected to 
increase future taxable income.  Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deducƟble temporary 
differences and carryforward benefits of unused tax credits from the unused net operaƟng loss 
carryover (NOLCO) and excess of minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate 
income tax (RCIT), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deducƟble temporary differences and carryforward benefits of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be uƟlized.  Deferred tax, however, is not recognized when it arises from the iniƟal 
recogniƟon of an asset or liability in a transacƟon that is not a business combinaƟon and,  
at the Ɵme of the transacƟon, affects neither the accounƟng profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporƟng date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be uƟlized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporƟng date and recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit 
will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.  

Deferred tax assets and liabiliƟes are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realized or the liability is seƩled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have 
been enacted or substanƟvely enacted at the reporƟng date.  

Deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to a business 
combinaƟon or items directly recognized to equity or in OCI. 

Deferred tax assets and liabiliƟes are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabiliƟes, and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable enƟty and the 
same taxaƟon authority.  
 
Related Party TransacƟons 
Related party transacƟons are transfer of resources, services, or obligaƟons between the Company 
and its related parƟes, regardless of whether a price is charged. 



 

 
 

ParƟes are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operaƟng 
decisions.  ParƟes are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control with the 
reporƟng enterprise, or between and/or among the reporƟng enterprise and its key management 
personnel, directors, or its stockholders. Related parƟes may be individual or corporate enƟƟes. 
TransacƟons between related parƟes are accounted for at arm’s-length prices or on terms similar to 
those offered to non-related parƟes in an economically comparable market.  In considering each 
possible related party relaƟonship, aƩenƟon is directed to the substance of the relaƟonship and not 
merely on legal form. 

Related party transacƟons are considered material and/or significant if i) these transacƟons amount 
to 10% or higher of the Company’s total assets, or ii) there are several transacƟons or a series of 
transacƟons over a 12-month period with the same related party amounƟng to 10% or higher of the 
Company’s total assets.  

Foreign Currency-Denominated TransacƟons 
TransacƟons denominated in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the date of 
the transacƟon.  Outstanding monetary assets and liabiliƟes denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated using the closing exchange rate at reporƟng date.  Differences arising on seƩlement or 
translaƟon of monetary assets and liabiliƟes are recognized in profit or loss.  

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the iniƟal transacƟon.  The gain or loss arising on translaƟon 
of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recogniƟon of the gain or 
loss on the change in fair value of the item.  Differences arising on seƩlement or translaƟon of 
monetary items are recognized in profit or loss.  

Segment ReporƟng 
The Company reports separate informaƟon about each operaƟng segment idenƟfied.  An operaƟng 
segment is a component of the Company that engages in business acƟviƟes from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transacƟons with any 
of the Company’s other components; from whose operaƟng results are regularly reviewed to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment; and for which discrete informaƟon is 
available. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligaƟon (legal or construcƟve)  
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an ouƞlow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to seƩle the obligaƟon, and a reliable esƟmate can be made of the amount of the 
obligaƟon.  Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relaƟng to any provision is presented in profit or 
loss, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the Ɵme value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the Ɵme value of 
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounƟng is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of Ɵme is recognized as an interest expense.  
 

  



 

 
 

ConƟngencies 
ConƟngent liabiliƟes are not recognized in the financial statements.  These are disclosed in the notes 
to financial statements, unless the possibility of an ouƞlow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is remote.  ConƟngent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed 
in the notes to financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.  

Earnings per Share (EPS) 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income (less preferred dividends net of tax, if any) for the 
year aƩributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common stocks 
outstanding during the year, with retroacƟve adjustment for any stock dividends or stock splits 
declared during the year. 

Diluted EPS is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common stocks 
outstanding during the year, aŌer giving retroacƟve effect for any stock dividends, stock splits, or 
reverse stock splits during the year, and adjusted for the effect of diluƟve opƟons. 

 
 
3. Summary of Significant Judgments, AccounƟng EsƟmates, and AssumpƟons 

The preparaƟon of the financial statements requires management to exercise judgments and make 
accounƟng esƟmates and assumpƟons that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 
and related notes.  The judgments and accounƟng esƟmates, and assumpƟons used in the financial 
statements are based upon management’s evaluaƟon of relevant facts and circumstances as at the 
reporƟng date.  While the Company believes that the assumpƟons are reasonable and appropriate, 
significant differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumpƟons may 
materially affect the esƟmated amounts.  Actual results could differ from such esƟmates.  

The esƟmates and underlying assumpƟons are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounƟng esƟmates are recognized in the period in which the esƟmate is revised and in any future 
periods affected.  

The following are the significant judgments, accounƟng esƟmates, and assumpƟons by the Company: 

Judgments 

DeterminaƟon of the FuncƟonal Currency. Based on the economic substance of the underlying 
circumstances relevant to the Company, the funcƟonal currency of the Company has been 
determined to be Philippine Peso, which is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates. It is the currency that mainly influences economic value of the income 
and costs from the Company’s operaƟons. 

ClassificaƟon and Measurement of Financial Assets.  ClassificaƟon and measurement of financial 
assets depends on the results of the “solely for payments of principal and interests” and the business 
model test.  The Company determines the business model at a level that reflects how groups of 
financial assets are managed together to achieve a parƟcular business objecƟve.  This assessment 
includes judgment reflecƟng all relevant evidence including how the performance of the assets is 
evaluated, the risks that affect the performance of the assets, and how these risks are managed. 

The Company monitors financial assets measured at FVPL, FVOCI, or amorƟzed cost that are 
derecognized prior to their maturity to understand the reason for their disposal and whether the 
reasons are consistent with the objecƟve of the business for which the asset was held.  Monitoring 
is part of the Company’s conƟnuous assessment of whether the business model for which the 
remaining financial assets are held conƟnues to be appropriate.  Otherwise, change in the business 
model should result to a change in the classificaƟon of those financial assets. 



 

 
 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s investments in various listed 
equity securiƟes are classified as financial assets at FVPL, while investments in government securiƟes 
are classified as financial assets at FVOCI (see Notes 7 and 9). 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, interest receivables, receivables from employees and 
dividends receivable (included under “Other current assets” account in the statements of financial 
posiƟon), and refundable deposits (included under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the 
statements of financial posiƟon)  were classified as financial assets at amorƟzed cost because the 
Company’s primary business model in relaƟon to these assets is to hold the financial assets to collect 
contractual cash flows solely for principal and interest (see Notes 6, 8, 10, and 14). 

DeterminaƟon of the Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and TerminaƟon OpƟons -  
Company as Lessee.  The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the 
lease, together with any periods covered by an opƟon to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain 
to be exercised, or any periods covered by an opƟon to terminate the lease if it is reasonably certain 
not to be exercised.  The Company applies judgment in evaluaƟng whether it is reasonably certain to 
exercise the opƟon to renew or terminate the lease.  That is, it considers all relevant factors that 
create an economic incenƟve for it to exercise either the renewal or terminaƟon.  AŌer the 
commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change 
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the 
opƟon to renew or to terminate (e.g., construcƟon of significant leasehold improvements or 
significant customizaƟon to the leased asset). 

The enforceable porƟon of the lease term (i.e. legal term of the contract) was considered in the 
computaƟon of ROU assets and lease liabiliƟes. 

 
DeterminaƟon of the OperaƟng Segments.  DeterminaƟon of operaƟng segments is based on the 
informaƟon about components of the Company that the management uses to make decisions about 
operaƟng maƩers. The Company is organized into operaƟng segments based on business acƟviƟes 
as allowed under PFRS 8, OperaƟng Segments, due to their similar characterisƟcs.   

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company determined that it has two 
operaƟng segments, which pertain to local and global trading (see Note 23). 

 
AccounƟng EsƟmates and AssumpƟons 
Fair Value Measurement of Financial Instruments.  The fair values of securiƟes that are acƟvely 
traded in organized financial markets are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market 
prices at the close of business on the reporƟng date. 
  
When the fair values of financial assets recorded in the statements of financial posiƟon cannot be 
measured based on quoted prices in acƟve market, their fair value is measured using valuaƟon 
techniques including the discounted cash flow model. The inputs to this model are taken from 
observable market when possible, but when this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in 
establishing fair values. Judgments include consideraƟons of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk, 
and volaƟlity. Changes in assumpƟons about these factors could affect the reported fair value of 
financial instruments.  

In accordance with the amendments to PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, disclosures about 
the level in the fair value hierarchy are required in which the fair value measurements are categorized 
for assets and liabiliƟes measured in the statements of financial posiƟon.   

AssumpƟons and methods of determining the fair values of financial instruments are presented in 
Note 5 to the financial statements. 



 

 
 

Assessment of the ECL on Trade Receivables.  The Company, applying the simplified approach in the 
computaƟon of ECL, iniƟally uses a provision matrix based on historical default rates for trade 
receivables.  The provision matrix specifies provision rates depending on the number of days that a 
trade receivable is past due.  The Company also uses appropriate groupings if its historical credit loss 
experience shows significantly different loss paƩerns for different customer segments.  The Company 
then adjusts the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking informaƟon on the basis of 
current observable data affecƟng each customer segment to reflect the effects of current and 
forecasted economic condiƟons.  The Company regularly reviews the methodology and assumpƟons 
used for esƟmaƟng ECL to reduce any differences between esƟmates and actual credit loss 
experience. 

The determinaƟon of the relaƟonship between historical default rates and forecasted economic 
condiƟons is a significant accounƟng esƟmate.  Accordingly, the provision for credit losses on trade 
receivables is sensiƟve to changes in assumpƟons about forecasted economic condiƟons. 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and related allowance for credit losses as at and for the 
years ended September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial 
statements. 
 
The Company determines the allowance for ECL using general approach.  The Company calculates 
ECL for its other financial assets at amorƟzed cost at iniƟal recogniƟon by considering the 
occurrences and probabiliƟes of possible defaults only for the next 12 months, rather than the life of 
the asset.  It conƟnues to apply this method unƟl a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, at 
which point the loss allowance is measured based on lifeƟme ECL. 

When determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Company considers 
reasonable and supportable informaƟon that is available without undue cost or effort and that is 
relevant for the parƟcular financial instrument being assessed such as, but not limited to,  
the following factors: 

 
 Actual or expected external and internal credit raƟng downgrade; 
 ExisƟng or forecasted adverse changes in business, financial or economic condiƟons; and 
 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in the operaƟng results of the borrower. 

 
The Company also considers financial assets that are more than 30 days past due to be the latest 
point at which lifeƟme ECL should be recognized, unless it can demonstrate that this does not 
represent a significant risk in credit risk such as when non-payment was an administraƟve oversight 
rather than resulƟng from financial difficulty of the borrower. 

The Company has assessed that the ECL on other financial assets at amorƟzed cost is not material 
because the transacƟons with respect to these financial assets were entered into by the Company 
only with reputable banks and companies with good credit standing and relaƟvely low risk of 
defaults.  Accordingly, no provision for credit losses on other financial assets at amorƟzed cost was 
recognized in September 2025 and 2024.  

The carrying amounts of the other financial assets at amorƟzed cost (cash and cash equivalents, 
investments in government securiƟes excluding investments in government securiƟes measured at 
FVOCI, interest receivables, receivables from employees, dividends receivable, refundable deposits) 
as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are disclosed in Notes 6, 9, 10, and 14 to the 
financial statements.  

EsƟmaƟon of the Useful Lives of Intangible Assets, Property and Equipment (including Right-of-Use 
Assets), and Investment Property.  The exchange trading right is deemed to have indefinite useful life 
as there is no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash 



 

 
 

inflows for the Company.  The useful lives of soŌware and licenses, property and equipment,  
and investment property are esƟmated based on the period over which the assets are expected to 
be available for use and are reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and period of 
depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon are consistent with the expected paƩern of economic benefits from 
items of soŌware and licenses, property and equipment, and investment property.  

The useful lives are updated if expectaƟons differ from previous esƟmates due to physical wear and 
tear, and technical and commercial obsolescence.  Any reducƟon in the esƟmated useful lives of 
these assets would increase the Company’s recorded operaƟng expenses and decrease noncurrent 
assets. 

There is no change in the esƟmated useful lives of soŌware and licenses, property and equipment, 
and investment property in September 2025 and 2024. 

Assessment of the Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets.  The Company assesses impairment on 
intangible assets, property and equipment (including right-of-use assets), investment property,  
and other nonfinancial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the assets or Company of assets may not be recoverable.  The relevant factors that the 
Company considers in deciding whether to perform an asset impairment review include, among 
others, the following: 

 Significant underperformance of a business in relaƟon to expectaƟons; 
 Significant negaƟve industry or economic trends; and 
 Significant changes or planned changes in the use of the assets. 

Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized.  Recoverable amounts are esƟmated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the 
CGU to which the asset belongs. 

No impairment loss was recognized on intangible assets, property and equipment, investment 
property, and other nonfinancial assets in September 2025 and 2024.  
 
The carrying amounts of the nonfinancial assets (other current assets excluding interest receivables, 
receivables from employees, and dividends receivable, intangible assets, property and equipment, 
investment property, and other noncurrent assets excluding refundable deposits) as at  
September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are disclosed in Notes 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 to the 
financial statements.  
 
DeterminaƟon of the Incremental Borrowing Rate (IBR). The Company uses its IBR to measure lease 
liabiliƟes. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar 
term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the 
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.  The Company esƟmates the IBR using available 
observable inputs (such as the prevailing Bloomberg ValuaƟon Service (BVAL) interest rates) 
adjusted for enƟty-specific esƟmates, to reflect the terms and condiƟons of the lease.  

The Company has applied weighted average IBR ranging from 5.70% to 6.30% as of September 30, 
2025 and December 31, 2024 for the computaƟon of lease liabiliƟes and ROU assets. 
 
The carrying amounts of ROU assets and lease liabiliƟes as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024 are disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements. 

DeterminaƟon of the ReƟrement Liability.  The determinaƟon of the obligaƟon and cost of reƟrement 
benefit is dependent on the assumpƟons used by the actuary in calculaƟng such amounts. 



 

 
 

The assumpƟons are described in Note 19 to the financial statements and include, among others, 
discount rates and salary increase rates.  Actual results that differ from the Company’s assumpƟons 
are recognized in OCI and, therefore, generally affect the recorded obligaƟon in such future periods. 
 
The carrying amounts of net reƟrement benefit liability as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 
2024 are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements. 

RecogniƟon of Deferred Tax Assets.  The Company reviews the carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
at each reporƟng date and adjusts the balance to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be uƟlized 
within the period allowed by the tax regulaƟons. 

 
Recognized deferred tax assets as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are disclosed in 
Note 21 to the financial statements. The Management believes that the Company will be able to 
generate sufficient taxable income against which these deferred tax assets can be uƟlized. 

 
4. Financial Risk Management ObjecƟves and Policies 

The main risks arising from the Company’s use of financial instruments include credit risk,  
liquidity risk, and market risk.  The Company’s overall risk management process focuses on  
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potenƟal adverse effects on  
the Company’s financial performance.  The BOD regularly reviews and approves the appropriate 
policies for managing these financial risks, as summarized below. 

Credit Risk 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises when the counterparty fails to fulfill its financial 
commitments to the Company under the prevailing contractual terms.  Financial instruments that 
potenƟally subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of trade receivables and other 
financial assets at amorƟzed cost. 

The carrying amounts of the financial assets at amorƟzed cost represent its maximum credit 
exposure, without taking into account any collateral, other credit enhancements or credit risk 
miƟgaƟng features.   

The table below presents the credit quality of the assets by indicaƟng whether the assets are 
subjected to 12-month ECL or lifeƟme ECL.  Assets that are credit-impaired, if any, are separately 
presented. 
 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

 12-month ECL 

LifeƟme ECL  
− Not Credit-

Impaired 
LifeƟme ECL  

− Credit-Impaired Total 
Financial asset at amorƟzed cost:     

Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=436,576,573 P=– P=–  P=436,576,573 
Trade receivables – 29,680,012 464,272 30,144,284 
Interest receivables** 21,800,164 – – 21,800,164 
Receivables from employees** 847,282 – – 847,282 
Dividend receivable** 52,862 – – 52,862 
Refundable deposits*** 13,627,611 – – 13,627,611 

 P=472,904,492  P=29,680,012  P=464,272  P=503,048,776 
 
  



 

 
 

 December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 12-month ECL 
LifeƟme ECL  

− Not Credit-Impaired 
LifeƟme ECL  

− Credit-Impaired Total 
Financial asset at amorƟzed cost:     

Cash in banks and cash equivalents P=440,257,230 P=– P=– P=440,257,230 
Trade receivables –  440,150,621   356,878  440,507,499 
Investments in government securiƟes* 464,463,427 – – 464,463,427 
Interest receivables**  7,546,844  – – 7,546,844 
Receivables from employees**  673,929  – – 673,929 
Dividend receivable**  9,024  – – 9,024 
Refundable deposits***  12,998,068  – – 12,998,068 

 P=925,948,522 P=440,150,621 P=356,878 P=1,366,456,021  
*Excluding investments in government securiƟes measured at FVOCI. 
**Included under “Other current assets” account in the statements of financial posiƟon. 
***Included under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the statements of financial posiƟon. 

The Company has no significant concentraƟon of credit risk with any single counterparty or group of 
counterparƟes having similar characterisƟcs. 

 
Trade Receivables 
The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade receivables.  The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments analyzed by customer type, 
credit terms, and number of days outstanding.  The Company adjusts historical default rates to 
forward-looking default rate by determining the closely related economic factor affecƟng each 
customer segment (i.e. percentage change in gross domesƟc product).  At each reporƟng date,  
the observed historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking esƟmates are 
analyzed. 

The Company limits its exposure to credit risk by maintaining its cash and cash equivalents with highly 
reputable and pre-approved financial insƟtuƟons and by transacƟng with recognized and 
creditworthy counterparƟes.  In addiƟon, customers are iniƟally assessed for creditworthiness based 
on their profile (i.e., financial capacity, reputaƟon, collateral).  The Company also monitors receivable 
balances regularly.  In accordance with the Risk-Based Capital Adequacy (RBCA) requirements, limits 
are imposed to avoid large exposure to a single client or counterparty and single equity relaƟve to a 
parƟcular issuer company or group of companies.  Furthermore, credit exposures are minimized by 
collateral held in the form of securiƟes purchased. 

The aging analysis of the Company’s receivables from customers arising from brokering transacƟons 
is as follows: 

 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 
Days from TransacƟon Date  

of Counterparty Amount 
Collateral 

(Net of Haircut) 
Counterparty 

Exposure 
1 - 2 days  P=373,851   P=4,312,973 P=– 
3 - 13 days 9,636 492,765 193 
14 - 31 days  – –  –  
Over 31 days  675,911  213,496     464,079   
  P=1,059,398  P=5,019,234  P=464,272 

 
 

December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
Days from TransacƟon Date  

of Counterparty Amount 
Collateral 

(Net of Haircut) 
Counterparty 

Exposure 
1 - 2 days P=– P=– P=– 
3 - 13 days – – – 
14 - 31 days  –  –  – 
Over 31 days  366,726   51,272,712   356,878  
 P=366,726 P=51,272,712 P=356,878 



 

 
 

The SRC requires broker/dealers to maintain a stock record for each cash and margin account of 
every customer regardless of the frequency of transacƟons.  The stock record is a record of 
accountability reflecƟng all securiƟes for which the Company has custodial responsibility or 
proprietary ownership.  TransacƟons in the customer accounts cover both money balances and 
security posiƟons, with the security transacƟon and related money generally recorded on the 
seƩlement date. 

On a regular basis, collateral valuaƟons of customers’ accounts are analyzed to ensure that these are 
sufficient to cover the outstanding balances due to the Company.  

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, receivables from customers amounƟng to P=1.1 
million and P= 0.4 million, respecƟvely, are secured by collateral comprising of equity securiƟes of 
listed companies with a total market value of P=7.7 million and P=69.9 million, respecƟvely (see Note 
8). 

Receivables from other brokers pertain to funds held by other brokers for the Company’s global 
trading acƟviƟes. Receivables from customers arising from client advisory services pertain to 
receivables from the Company’s consultancy services for customers who intend to trade in global 
stock markets.  The Company has assessed that ECL on these receivables are insignificant because 
the counterparƟes are companies with good credit standing and low risk of defaults.  Further, the 
funds held by other brokers as at the end of the reporƟng period were subsequently reinvested to 
various equity and debt securiƟes in other foreign markets.  On the other hand, receivables from 
clearing house are due and collecƟble aŌer two business days from the transacƟon date.  
Accordingly, no provision for credit losses was recognized on receivables from other brokers and 
clearing house and receivables from customers arising from client advisory services in September 30, 
2025 and 2024. 

Other Financial Assets at AmorƟzed Cost 
It is the Company’s policy to measure ECL on other financial assets at amorƟzed cost on a 12-month 
basis.  However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since originaƟon,  
the allowance will be based on the lifeƟme ECL. 

The Company has assessed, considering the factors discussed in Note 3 to the financial statements, 
that the ECL on other financial assets at amorƟzed cost is insignificant because the transacƟons with 
respect to these financial assets are with reputable banks and companies with good credit standing 
and low risk of defaults. Accordingly, no provision for credit losses was recognized in September 2025 
and 2024 on other financial assets at amorƟzed cost. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Company encounters difficulƟes in raising adequate funds to meet its 
financial commitments at a reasonable cost.  The Company’s objecƟves in effecƟvely managing its 
liquidity are: (a) to ensure that adequate funding is available at all Ɵmes; (b) to meet the 
commitments as they arise without incurring unnecessary costs; and (c) to be able to access funding 
when needed at the least possible cost.  

The Company monitors its cash flows, parƟcularly the receivables from customers’ collecƟons and 
the funding requirements of operaƟons, to ensure an adequate balance of inflows and ouƞlows.   
Further, special reserve requirements for the customers of the Company are maintained in the bank 
(see Note 6). 

 
  



 

 
 

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the financial liabiliƟes of the Company based 
on remaining undiscounted cash flows: 
 
 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

  On Demand 1 to 3 Months 
More than  

3 to 12 Months 
More than 

1 to 5 Years Total 
Trade payables  P=370,792,269 P=– P=– P=–  P=370,792,269  
Lease liabiliƟes   – 248,050 235,500 563,500 1,047,050    
Other current liabiliƟes*   –  1,716,012    –   1,716,012 
  P=370,792,269  P=1,964,062    P=235,500 P=563,500  P=373,555,331   
*Excluding statutory liabiliƟes amounƟng to P=1.4 million as at September 30, 2025. 

 
 December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

  On Demand 1 to 3 Months 
More than  

3 to 12 Months 
More than 

1 to 5 Years Total 
Trade payables   P=172,519,052  P=– P=–  P=– P=172,519,052 
Lease liabiliƟes  –  574,684  1,269,895 15,000 1,859,579 
Other current liabiliƟes*  –  682,133   10,689,928  – 11,372,061 
  P=172,519,052  P=1,256,817 P=11,959,823 P=15,000 P=185,750,692 
*Excluding statutory liabiliƟes amounƟng to P=4.2 million as at December 31, 2024. 

Market Risks 
The Company is exposed to market risks, primarily those related to foreign currency risk and equity 
price risk.  Management acƟvely monitors these exposures, as follows: 

Foreign Currency Risk.  Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  

The Company periodically reviews the trend of the foreign exchange rates to address its exposure in 
foreign currency risk.  The Company’s policy is to maintain foreign currency exposure within 
acceptable limits and within the exisƟng regulatory guidelines.  The Company believes that its profile 
of foreign currency exposure on its assets and liabiliƟes is within conservaƟve limits for a financial 
insƟtuƟon engaged in the type of business in which the Company is engaged.  
 
The following table shows the Company’s foreign currency-denominated monetary financial assets 
and financial liabiliƟes: 
 
 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

 
United States  

(US) Dollar 
Philippine 

Peso 
Indonesian 
(ID) Rupiah 

Philippine 
Peso 

Malaysian
(MYR) Ringgit

Philippine 
Peso 

Financial assets:        
 Cash in banks  $57,206  P=3,320,355 Rp–     P=–    Rm–     P=–     
 Receivables from other brokers 339,447 19,702,167 1,022,373 3,578 8,857 122,046  
 Financial assets at FVPL 9,277,882 538,506,854 – – 204,000 2,811,161  
Financial liabiliƟes:        
      Payable to other broker (2,452,452) (142,345,247) – – – –  
Net exposure $7,222,083   P=419,184,129  Rp1,022,373 P=3,578 Rp212,857 P=2,933,207  
 
 
 

 
 

December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 
United States (US) 

Dollar 
Philippine 

Peso 
Indonesian 
(ID) Rupiah 

Philippine 
Peso 

Malaysian
(MYR) Ringgit

Philippine 
Peso 

Financial assets:       
 Cash in banks  $78,472   P=4,552,453  Rp–     P=–    Rm–     P=– 
 Receivables from other brokers  7,073,365   410,354,192  1,022,373   3,681  –  – 
 Financial assets at FVPL  299,123  17,353,330  –  – –  – 
Net exposure $7,450,960 P=432,259,975 Rp1,022,373 P=3,681 Rm– – 

 
  



 

 
 

For purposes of restaƟng the outstanding balances of the Company’s foreign currency-denominated 
monetary financial assets as at September 30, 2025, the exchange rates applied are P=58.042, P=0.0035 
and ₱13.7802 per US$1, IDR1 and MYR1 respecƟvely. As at December 31, 2024, the exchange rates 
applied were P=58.014 and P=0.0036 per US$1 and IDR1, respecƟvely.  

 
The following table demonstrates the sensiƟvity to a reasonably possible change in the US Dollar 
and ID Rupiah exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Company’s income before 
tax and equity.  There is no other impact on the Company’s equity other than those already affecƟng 
profit or loss.  
 

 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

 Net Exposure 
Increase/Decrease in 

Exchange Rate 
Effect on Income Before 

Income Tax 
US Dollar $7,222,083 0.89  P=6,420,430 
  (0.89) 6,420,430 
ID Rupiah Rp1,022,373 0.0001  P=75 
  (0.0001) (75) 
Malaysian Ringgit Rm212,857 0.2757  P=58,684 

  (0.2757)         (58,684) 
 

 December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 Net Exposure 

 
Increase/Decrease in 

Exchange Rate 
Effect on Income Before 

Income Tax 
US Dollar $7,451,230 1.10 P=8,196,353 
  (1.10) (8,196,353) 
ID Rupiah Rp1,022,373 0.0001  P=90 
  (0.0001)         (90) 

 
Equity Price Risk.  Equity price risk arise when the fair values of quoted equity securiƟes decrease as 
the result of the adverse changes in the quoted equity prices as affected by both raƟonal and 
irraƟonal market forces.  The Company’s equity risk exposure is mainly from its financial assets at 
FVPL. 

The Company’s policy is to maintain the risk to an acceptable level. Movement in share price is 
monitored regularly to determine the impact on its financial posiƟon. 

Capital Management 
The Company’s objecƟve in managing capital is to ensure that a stable capital base is maintained in 
accordance with industry regulaƟons, while maintaining investor, creditor, and market confidence 
to sustain the future development of the business. 

The Company’s BOD has the overall responsibility for monitoring capital proporƟon to risks.   
The Associated Person designated by the Company monitors compliance with minimum net capital 
requirements imposed by the PSE and the SEC. 

The Company, being a broker/dealer in securiƟes, is regulated by the PSE and the SEC and subject to 
the following capital requirements in accordance with the SRC.  

Required CapitalizaƟon for Broker/Dealers 
In compliance with SRC Rule 28 of the 2015 ImplemenƟng Rules and RegulaƟons of SecuriƟes 
RegulaƟon Code, trading parƟcipants, who will be parƟcipaƟng in a registered clearing agency,  
are required to have a reserve capital of P=100.0 million effecƟve November 9, 2015. 
 
Unimpaired paid-up capital pertains to the Company’s paid-up capital less any deficit.  
The unimpaired paid-up capital of the Company amounted to P=1,911.1 million as at September 30, 
2025 and December 31, 2024. 



 

 
 

 
Details of the Company’s common shares at P=0.10 par value per share are as follows: 
 
  September 30, 2025 (Unaudited)  December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
 Number of Shares Amount Number of Shares Amount 
Authorized Capital Stock     
Balance at beginning of year 8,000,000,000 P=800,000,000 8,000,000,000 P=800,000,000 
Effect of stock split – – – – 
Balance at end of year 8,000,000,000 P=800,000,000 8,000,000,000 P=800,000,000 

Issued and Outstanding     
Balance at beginning of year 6,875,000,000 P=687,500,000 6,875,000,000 P=687,500,000 
AddiƟon – – – – 
Effect of stock split – – – – 
Balance at end of year 6,875,000,000 P=687,500,000 6,875,000,000 P=687,500,000 

On April 13, 2022, the Company was listed in the PSE and issued 1,375.0 million shares from  
the Company’s unissued capital stock at an offer price of P=1.00 per share.  The proceeds from the 
IPO amounted to P=1,375.0 million.  The excess of P=1.00 offer price over P=0.10 par value of the issued 
shares, equivalent to P= 1,237.5 million, was recognized as addiƟonal paid-in capital.   
Costs directly aƩributable to IPO that were recognized as deducƟon from addiƟonal paid-in capital 
amounted to P= 13.9 million. Offer expenses incidental to the IPO amounted to P= 21.7 million,  
P=13.9 million of which are recognized as deducƟon to the addiƟonal paid-in capital.  
 
The total net proceeds from the IPO have been fully uƟlized and were applied toward the Company’s 
scaling of global trading operaƟons and general corporate purposes as of September 30, 2025. The 
uƟlizaƟon of the IPO proceeds was aligned with the Company’s long-term strategic objecƟves and 
followed the planned allocaƟon set forth in the prospectus, board resoluƟons, and PSE disclosures 
on the reallocaƟon of proceeds. 

 
The Company’s BOD approved the declaraƟon and payment of the following cash dividends: 
 

Date of 
DeclaraƟon Record Date 

 
Payment Date 

Dividend 
per Share Amount 

May 09, 2025 May 28, 2025 June 18, 2025 P=0.001877 P=12,904,375 
May 09, 2025 May 28, 2025 June 18, 2025 0.002491 17,125,625 
May 10, 2024 May 30, 2024 June 19, 2024 0.000669 4,599,375 
May 10, 2024 May 30, 2024 June 19, 2024 0.001971 13,550,625 
May 12, 2023 June 9, 2023 July 5, 2023 0.000776 5,335,000 
May 12, 2023 June 9, 2023 July 5, 2023 0.002328  16,005,000 

Reserve Fund 
The Company shall annually appropriate a certain minimum percentage of its previous year’s audited 
net income and transfer the same to “Appropriated Retained Earnings” in compliance with SRC Rule 
49.1 (B).   

The Company appropriated a reserve fund amounƟng to P=6.5 million, P=2.3 million, and P=5.2 million 
in 2025, 2024, and 2023, respecƟvely. 

The total amount of appropriated retained earnings amounted to P=20.7 million, P=14.2 million, and 
P=11.9 million as at September 30, 2025, December 31, 2024 and 2023, respecƟvely. 

Net Liquid Capital (NLC) 
The Company is required, at all Ɵmes, to have and maintain an NLC of at least P=5.0 million or 5% of 
its Aggregate Indebtedness (AI), whichever is higher. 



 

 
 

In compuƟng for NLC, all non-allowable assets/equiƟes and collateralized liabiliƟes will be deducted, 
and allowable liabiliƟes and equiƟes are added to equity per books.  The equity eligible for NLC 
pertains to the sum of the following: 
 
 Equity per books;  
 LiabiliƟes subordinated to the claims of creditors in conformity with SRC Rule 49.1 and in 

accordance with a prescribed schedule; and 
 Deposits for future stock subscripƟon for which an applicaƟon for increase in capital stock or 

request for exempƟon for registraƟon has been presented for filing or has been filed with the 
SEC. 

The equity eligible for NLC shall exclude deferred income tax, revaluaƟon reserves, and minority 
interest and any outside investment in affiliates and associates. In compuƟng for NLC, the equity 
eligible for NLC is adjusted by the following: 
 
 Adding unrealized gains (or deducƟng unrealized losses) in the accounts of the Company; 
 DeducƟng fixed assets and assets which cannot be readily converted into cash (less any AI in 

accordance with SRC Rule 49.1); 
 DeducƟng general guarantees and indemniƟes for loans and indebtedness other than those 

incurred by the Company, unless otherwise permiƩed by the SEC; and 
 DeducƟng long and short securiƟes differences. 

 
AI shall mean the total money liabiliƟes of a broker/dealer arising in connecƟon with any transacƟon,  
and includes, among others, money borrowed, money payable against securiƟes loaned and 
securiƟes failed to receive, market value of securiƟes borrowed to the extent to which no equivalent 
value is paid or credited (other than the market value of margin securiƟes borrowed from customers 
and margin securiƟes borrowed from non-customers), customers’ and non-customers’ free credit 
balances, and credit balances in customers’ and non-customers’ accounts having short posiƟons in 
securiƟes, but excluding the items set out in SRC Rule 49.1 (1) (D). 

 
The Company’s NLC met the minimum prescribed amounts as shown below:  
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
December 31, 2024 

(Audited) 
NLC:   
 Equity eligible for NLC P=2,025,489,756 P=2,018,635,679 
 Less ineligible assets 47,788,481 49,943,275 
 1,977,701,275 1,968,692,404 
Required NLC:   
 Higher of:   
  5% of AI 19,370,969 9,807,348 
  Minimum amount 5,000,000 5,000,000 
 19,370,969 9,807,348 
Net risk-based capital excess P=1,958,330,307 P=1,958,885,056 

 
RaƟo of AI to NLC 
The Company shall not permit its AI to all other persons to exceed 2,000% of its NLC. 

The Company’s raƟo of AI to NLC is 20% and 10% as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
respecƟvely. 

RBCA Requirement/RaƟo 
The RBCA requirement/raƟo refers to the minimum level of capital to be maintained by firms which 



 

 
 

are licensed or securing a broker/dealer license, taking into consideraƟon the firm size, complexity, 
and business risk.  Such risks that are considered in determining the capital requirement include, 
among others, operaƟonal, posiƟon, counterparty, large exposure, underwriƟng, and margin 
financing risks.  The RBCA raƟo should be greater than or equal to 1.1.   

 
The RBCA raƟo is the raƟo linking the NLC of the Company to its Total Risk Capital Requirement 
(TRCR), calculated as the Company’s NLC divided by its TRCR.  The TRCR is the sum of: 

 OperaƟonal Risk Requirement (ORR); 
 Credit Risk Requirement which include requirements for Counterparty Risk, SeƩlement Risk,  

Large Exposure Risk, and Margin Lending/Financing Risk; and 
 PosiƟon or Market Risk Requirement. 

 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
December 31, 2024

(Audited)
NLC P=1,977,701,275 P=1,968,692,404
TRCR:  
 OperaƟonal risk 29,081,322 27,886,792
 Credit risk 73,551,206 34,341,494
 PosiƟon risk 309,127,084 87,212,331
Total risk capital requirement P=411,759,612 P=149,440,617

RBCA raƟo 480% 1,317%

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company is compliant with the required RBCA 
raƟo.  

RaƟo of Core Equity to ORR 
The Company’s core equity shall be at all Ɵmes greater than its ORR. 

Core equity refers to the sum of paid-up common stock, common stock dividends distributable, 
addiƟonal paid-in capital, surplus reserves excluding revaluaƟon reserves or appraisal capital,  
and opening retained earnings adjusted for all current year movements.  Core equity shall exclude 
treasury shares and unbooked valuaƟon reserves and other capital adjustments (such as unrealized 
gain in value of financial assets at FVOCI). 

The Company’s raƟo of core equity to ORR is as follows: 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited) 
Capital stock P=687,500,000 P=687,500,000 
AddiƟonal paid-capital 1,223,556,878.00 87,675,054 
Beginning retained earnings 134,058,986 1,223,556,878 
Less: Dividends declared (30,030,000) (18,150,000) 
Core equity  2,015,085,864 1,980,581,932 
ORR 29,081,322 27,886,792 
RaƟo of Core Equity to ORR 6,929% 7,102% 

 

 
  



 

 
 

5. Fair Value Measurement 

The following table presents the carrying amount and fair value of the Company’s assets measured 
at fair value and for which fair value is disclosed, and the corresponding fair value hierarchy: 

 
  September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 
   Fair Value 

 Note 
Carrying 
Amount 

Quoted Prices 
in AcƟve 
Markets 
(Level 1) 

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Level 2) 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

Assets measured at fair value:      
Financial assets at FVPL  7 P=666,956,961 P=666,956,961 P=– P=– 
Investments in government securiƟes 

measured at FVOCI 9 1,246,915,137 1,246,915,137 – – 
Assets for which fair value is disclosed:      

Investment property 13 7,874,608 – 42,900,120 – 
  P=1,921,746,706 P=1,913,872,098 P=42,900,120 P=– 

 
  December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
   Fair Value 

 Note 
Carrying 
Amount 

Quoted Prices 
in AcƟve 
Markets 
(Level 1) 

Significant 
Observable 

Inputs 
(Level 2) 

Significant 
Unobservable 

Inputs 
(Level 3) 

Assets measured at fair value:      
Financial assets at FVPL  7 P=65,382,724 P=65,382,724 P=– P=– 
Investments in government securiƟes 

measured at FVOCI 9 787,172,302 787,172,302 – – 
Assets for which fair value is disclosed:      

Investment property 13 8,356,726 – 42,900,120 – 
Investments in government securiƟes 

measured at amorƟzed cost 9 464,463,427 – 482,373,197 – 
  P=1,325,375,179 P=852,555,026 P=525,273,317 P=– 

 
The Company used the following valuaƟon techniques to determine fair value measurements: 

Financial Assets at FVPL.  The Company’s financial assets at FVPL as at September 30, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024 are carried at fair values based on sources classified under the Level 1 category.  
The fair values of financial assets at FVPL are based on prevailing quoted market prices, which are 
usually the closing prices from acƟve markets as at reporƟng date. 

Investments in Government SecuriƟes.  The fair value of investments in government securiƟes are 
generally based on quoted market prices. If the market prices are not readily available, fair values 
are esƟmated using either values obtained from independent parƟes offering pricing services or 
adjusted quoted market prices of comparable investments, or using the discounted cash flow 
methodology.  
 
Investment Property.  ValuaƟons were derived on the basis of recent sales of similar properƟes in the 
same areas as the investment property and taking into account the economic condiƟons prevailing 
at the Ɵme the valuaƟons were made and comparability of similar properƟes sold with the property 
being valued. The fair valuaƟon is classified under Level 2 category.  
 
The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the Company’s investment 
property are the esƟmated net price per square meter and various factors such as size, locaƟon, and 
uƟlity, among others.  Significant increases (decreases) in the esƟmated net price per square meter 
in isolaƟon would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.  Further, choosing 
comparable with different inputs would result in a significantly different fair value measurement. 



 

 
 

The Company has determined that the current use of its investment property as at  
September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 is its highest and best use. 

The tables below present the financial assets and liabiliƟes whose carrying amount approximates 
their fair value because of their short-term nature or their fair value cannot be reliably determined: 
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Financial assets at amorƟzed cost: 
 Cash and cash equivalents  P=436,606,573  P=440,287,230 
 Trade receivables  29,680,012  440,150,621 
 Interest receivables*  21,800,164  7,546,844 
 Receivables from employees*  847,282  673,929 
 Dividend receivable*  52,862  9,024 
 Refundable deposits**  13,627,611  12,998,068 
  P=502,614,504 P=901,665,716
*Included under “Other current assets” account in the statements of financial posiƟon. 
**Included under “Other noncurrent assets” account in the statements of financial posiƟon. 

 

 
September 30, 2025

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited) 
Other financial liabiliƟes at amorƟzed cost:  
 Trade payables ₱370,792,269  P=172,519,052  
 Other current liabiliƟes* 1,716,012  11,372,061  
 ₱372,508,281 P=183,891,113 
*Excluding statutory liabiliƟes aggregaƟng to P= 1.4 million and P= 4.2 million as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 

respecƟvely. 

Current Financial Assets and LiabiliƟes.  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, interest receivables, receivables from employees, trade payables, and other current 
liabiliƟes (excluding statutory liabiliƟes) approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  

Refundable Deposits.  The carrying amount of refundable deposits approximates fair value.   
The management believes that the effect of discounƟng the future receipts from these financial 
instruments using the prevailing market rates is not significant.  

 
 
6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

This account consists of: 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited) 
Cash on hand and in banks  ₱69,829,153   P=153,201,835  
Short-term placements  366,777,420   287,085,395  
  ₱436,606,573  P=440,287,230 

 
Cash in banks earn interest at prevailing bank deposit rates. Short-term placements are made for 
varying periods of up to three months, depending on the Company’s immediate cash requirements, 
and earn interest at the respecƟve short-term placement rates ranging from 3.55% to 6.00% p.a. and 
5.80% to 6.30% p.a. as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respecƟvely.   

  



 

 
 

Interest income was derived from: 
 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Investments in government securiƟes 9  P=47,829,253   P=48,283,986  
Short-term placements   6,922,578   8,698,401  
Cash in banks   3,564,240   1,603,105  
Receivables from other brokers 8  1,680,974   10,067,005  
   P=59,997,045   P=68,652,497  

In compliance with SRC Rule 49.2-1 covering customer protecƟon and custody of securiƟes,  
the Company maintains a special reserve bank account for the exclusive benefit of its customers 
amounƟng to P=424.50 million and P=429.5 million as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
respecƟvely.   

The Company’s reserve requirement is determined weekly based on the SEC’s prescribed 
computaƟon.  As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company’s reserve accounts 
are adequate to cover its reserve requirements.  

 
7. Financial Assets at FVPL 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Listed shares:  

Local  ₱125,638,946  P=48,029,394
Global   541,318,015  17,353,330

  ₱666,956,961  P=65,382,724

The Company’s financial assets at FVPL as at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 are carried 
at fair values based on sources classified under the Level 1 category.  The fair values of financial assets 
at FVPL are based on prevailing quoted market prices or bidding dealer price quotaƟons from acƟve 
market as at the reporƟng date (see Note 5). 
 
Dividend income earned from investments in securiƟes amounted to P=12 million and P=2.9 million in 
September 30, 2025 and 2024, respecƟvely. 

 
Net trading gains on investments in equity securiƟes consist of the following: 
 

 September 30, 2025 
(Unaudited) 

September 30, 2024 
(Unaudited) 

Realized fair value gains (losses) from: 
Local trading  ₱37,045,602   ₱43,516,571  
Global trading  (6,439,014)  13,086,564  

Unrealized gains (losses) on fair value   
changes on stocks held from:   
Local trading  (7,449,021)  (362,724) 
Global trading  (488,789)  3,817,204  

  ₱22,668,778   ₱60,057,615  
 
 
  



 

 
 

8. Trade Receivables 

This account consists of: 

 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Receivables from: 
 Other brokers  ₱19,827,792  P=410,357,873 
 Clearinghouse  9,257,094  29,506,677 
 Customers  1,059,398  366,726 
 Others –  276,223 
  30,144,284 440,507,499
Less allowance for credit losses  (464,272) (356,878)
  ₱29,680,012 P=440,150,621

Receivables from other brokers pertain to the funds deposited with other brokers as at  
September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024 in order for the Company to trade in other foreign 
markets. 

Interest income earned from receivables from other brokers amounted to P=1.7 million and P=10.1 
million in September 30, 2025 and 2024 (see Note 6).  

Receivables from clearing house are due and collecƟble aŌer two business days from the transacƟon 
date. The balance as at September 30, 2025 was fully collected in October 2025. 

Receivables from customers pertain to amounts due from brokering transacƟons and client advisory 
services.   Receivables from customers arising from brokering transacƟons, which are due within two 
days from the reporƟng date, are as follows: 

 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 
Money 

Balances 

Security 
ValuaƟon - 

Long 
Money 

Balances 

Security 
ValuaƟon - 

Long 
Cash and fully secured accounts:     
 More than 250% 437,895  7,448,825   P=9,848   P=69,949,250  
 Between 200% and 250% – – – – 
 Between 150% and 200% – – – – 
 Between 100% and 150% – – – – 
ParƟally secured accounts 266,665  242,190  – – 
Unsecured accounts 354,838  – 356,878 – 
 1,059,398 7,691,015 366,726 69,949,250 
Less allowance for credit losses 464,272 – 356,878 – 
 595,126 7,691,015 P=9,848 P=69,949,250 

Collaterals related to receivables from customers arising from brokering transacƟons pertain to listed 
equity securiƟes amounƟng to P=7.7 million and P= 69.9 million as at September 30, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024, respecƟvely.  The fair values of these securiƟes are based on prevailing quoted 
market prices, which are usually the closing prices from acƟve markets as at the reporƟng date. 

Reversal of credit losses pertains to specific reversals on past due receivables from customers.   
The movements in the allowance for credit losses are as follows: 

 

  
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Balance at beginning of year  ₱356,878 P=359,618
Provision (reversal) of credit losses  107,394 (2,740)
Balance at end of period  ₱464,272 P=356,878



 

 
 

9. Investments in Government SecuriƟes 

The Company’s investments in government securiƟes measured at FVOCI as at September 30, 2025 
and December 31, 2024 are carried at fair values based on sources classified under the Level 1 
category.  

The fair values of investments in government securiƟes are based on prevailing quoted market prices 
or bidding dealer price quotaƟons from acƟve markets as at the reporƟng date (see Note 5). 
 
The balances and movements of this account are as follows: 
 

 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 
 Financial Assets at  
 FVOCI AmorƟzed Cost Total 
Balance at beginning of year P=787,172,302  P=464,463,427  P=1,251,635,729  
ReclassificaƟon    464,463,427 (464,463,427) – 
AddiƟons   874,865,017   –  874,865,017  
MaturiƟes/ terminaƟons   (890,976,346) –  (890,976,346)
Net amorƟzaƟon of premium (2,139,072) –  (2,139,072) 
Net unrealized fair value gain 13,529,809 –  13,529,809  
Ending balance  P=1,246,915,137 P=– P=1,246,915,137 

  
 December 31, 2024 (Audited) 
 Financial Assets at  
 FVOCI AmorƟzed Cost Total 
Balance at beginning of year  P=790,058,973    P=464,135,145   P=1,254,194,118 
Net amorƟzaƟon of discount 

(premium)   (2,956,794)  328,282 (2,628,512) 
Net unrealized fair value gains  70,123 – 70,123 
Balance at end of year P=787,172,302 P=464,463,427 P=1,251,635,729 

 
The interest rates of investment in government securiƟes ranges from 6.75% to 7.50% p.a. in 
September 30, 2025 and 4.625% to 7.50% p.a. in December 31, 2024. 

Interest income on investments in government securiƟes amounted to P= 47.8 million and P= 48.3 
million in September 30, 2025 and 2024, respecƟvely. 

 
The cumulaƟve unrealized gains on fair value changes of financial assets at FVOCI recognized in the 
statements of financial posiƟon are as follows: 
 

 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

 

CumulaƟve 
 Unrealized 

 Gains  
Deferred Tax 

Expense Net 
Balances at beginning of year  ₱12,818,191   (₱3,204,548)  ₱9,613,643  
Unrealized gain  13,529,809   (3,382,452)  10,147,357  
Balances at end of year  ₱26,348,000   (₱6,587,000)  ₱19,761,000  

  



 

 
 

 
 December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 

CumulaƟve 
 Unrealized 

 Gains  
Deferred Tax 

Expense Net 
Balances at beginning of year P=12,748,068 (P=3,187,017) P=9,561,051 
Unrealized gain 70,123 (17,531)  52,592 
Balances at end of year P=12,818,191 (P=3,204,548) P=9,613,643 

 
10. Other Current Assets 

This account consists of: 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Interest receivables   P=21,800,164  P=7,546,844 
Excess tax credits  7,610,760  7,602,330 
Prepayments 2,114,600  1,561,888 
Receivable from employees 847,282  673,929 
Dividends receivable   52,862  9,024 
Others   78,390  394,905 
  P=32,504,058  P=17,788,920

 
Interest receivables, which are related to short-term placements, receivables from other brokers,  
and investments in government securiƟes, are generally collecƟble within one year. 
 
Excess tax credits pertains to the Company’s excess income tax payments over the amount due. 
Unapplied or excess income tax payments are carried forward and can be uƟlized in succeeding 
years. 

 
Prepayments, which are related to rentals, subscripƟons, insurance, and taxes and licenses, are 
amorƟzed over the period covered by the payment. 
 
Receivable from employees are unsecured, noninterest-bearing, and generally collecƟble within  
one year. 
 
Others are noninterest-bearing and generally seƩled within one year. 

 
11. Intangible Assets 

This account consists of: 
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
SoŌware and licenses  ₱3,639,994  ₱4,193,775 
Intangible assets - under development  187,500 –
Exchange trading right  475,000  475,000 
  ₱4,302,494  ₱4,668,775 

 
  



 

 
 

SoŌware and Licenses 
The balance and movements of soŌware and licenses are as follows: 
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=7,908,827 P=5,376,327
AddiƟons – 2,532,500
Balance at end of year 7,908,827 7,908,827
Accumulated AmorƟzaƟon 
Balance at beginning of year 3,715,052  3,037,656 
AmorƟzaƟon 553,781 677,396
Balance at end of year 4,268,833 3,715,052
Carrying Amount  P=3,639,994 P=4,193,775

 
Exchange Trading Right 

Under the PSE rules, all exchange trading rights are pledged at its full value to PSE to secure the 
payment of all debts due to other members of the exchange arising out of, or in connecƟon with,  
the present or future members’ contracts. 

Republic Act (RA) No. 8799 enƟtled SRC to prescribe the conversion of PSE from a non-stock 
corporaƟon into a stock corporaƟon (demutualizaƟon) effecƟve August 8, 2001, pursuant to a 
conversion plan approved by the SEC.  

As a result of the conversion plan and on the basis of the relaƟve fair values of the PSE shares and 
the exchange trading right as of the Ɵme of the demutualizaƟon, the Company’s membership in the 
PSE, originally amounƟng to P=1.0 million was bifurcated equally into (a) investment in PSE shares 
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) and (b) exchange trading right. The investment in PSE shares 
was sold in 2020.  

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the carrying amount of the exchange trading right 
is P=0.5 million. 

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the latest transacted price of the exchange trading 
right, as provided by the PSE, is P=8.0 million. 

 
Details of depreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon are as follows: 

 

 Note  
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Property and equipment 12   P=3,505,869 P=3,046,494 
Intangible assets      553,781 471,852 
Investment property 13     482,118 482,118 
    P=4,541,768   P=4,000,464 

No impairment loss was recognized on intangible assets in September 30, 2025 and 2024. 

 

 
  



 

 
 

12. Property and Equipment 

The balances and movements of this account are as follows: 
 
  September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 

 Note 

Office 
Condominium 

Units and 
 Improvements 

Leasehold 
 Improvements 

Furniture, 
Fixtures, and 

Office 
 Equipment 

ConstrucƟon 
in Progress Total 

Cost       
Balances at beginning of year   21,237,151   11,066,687   23,851,931  –  56,155,769  
AddiƟons   812,898  –  243,115  –  1,056,013  
DerecogniƟon   (862,219) –  (495,013) –  (1,357,232) 
Balances at end of year   21,187,830   11,066,687   23,600,033  –  55,854,550  
Accumulated DepreciaƟon  

and AmorƟzaƟon     
 

 
Balances at beginning of year   16,873,809   3,925,785   21,948,533  –  42,748,127  
DepreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon 11  2,292,390   826,455   387,024  –  3,505,869  
DerecogniƟon   (862,219) –  (495,013) –  (1,357,232) 
Balances at end of year   18,303,980   4,752,240   21,840,544  –  44,896,764  
Carrying Amounts   2,883,850   6,314,447   1,759,489  –  10,957,786  

 
  December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 Note 

Office 
Condominium 

Units and 
 Improvements 

Leasehold 
 Improvements 

Furniture, 
Fixtures, and 

Office 
 Equipment 

ConstrucƟon in 
Progress Total 

Cost       
Balances at beginning of year  P=21,123,830 P=5,017,465 P=22,059,175 P=2,924,238 P=51,124,708 
AddiƟons  113,321 439,169 975,469 3,522,022 5,049,981 
ReclassificaƟon  – 5,610,053 836,207 (6,446,260) – 
Disposal  – – (18,920) – (18,920) 
Balances at end of year  21,237,151 11,066,687 23,851,931 – 56,155,769 
Accumulated DepreciaƟon  

and AmorƟzaƟon       
Balances at beginning of year  13,829,627 3,141,377 21,584,488 – 38,555,492 
DepreciaƟon and amorƟzaƟon 11 3,044,182 784,408 382,965 – 4,211,555 
Disposal  – – (18,920) – (18,920) 
Balances at end of year  16,873,809 3,925,785 21,948,533 – 42,748,127 
Carrying Amounts  P=4,363,342 P=7,140,902 P=1,903,398 P=– P=13,407,642 

AddiƟons to ROU assets (included as part of “Office condominium units and improvements” in 
“Property and equipment” account) amounƟng to P=0.8 million and P=0.1 million as at September 2025 
and December 31, 2024 respecƟvely is considered as noncash financial informaƟon in the statements 
of cash flows (see Note 20). While derecogniƟons on ROU assets (included as part of “Office 
condominium units and improvements” in “Property and equipment” account) amounƟng to P=0.9 
million pertain to expiraƟon of previous lease contracts (see Note 20). 

In 2025 and 2024, the Company sold fully-depreciated office equipment for P= 1,786 and  
P=446, respecƟvely, resulƟng to gains of the same amounts.  

As at September 30, 2025 and December 31 2024, cost of fully-depreciated assets sƟll in use 
amounted to P=28.6 million and P=28.9 million, respecƟvely. 

 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
 

13. Investment Property 

The balance and movements of this account are as follows: 
 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Cost  
Balances at beginning and end of year  ₱12,856,487 P=12,856,487
Accumulated DepreciaƟon   
Balances at beginning of year   4,499,761  3,856,938 
DepreciaƟon  11  482,118  642,823 
Balances at end of year   4,981,879  4,499,761 
Carrying Amount   ₱7,874,608  ₱8,356,726 

The Company did not earn any income from the investment property in September 30, 2025 and 
2024.  

Direct costs incurred related to its investment property, which pertain to real property tax, amounted 
to P=25,612 in September 30, 2025 and 2024. 

The fair value of investment property amounted to P= 42.9 million as at September 30, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024, respecƟvely.  The fair values were determined using the Sales Comparison 
Approach, which compares sales of similar or subsƟtute properƟes and related market data to 
establish an esƟmated value (see Note 5).   

 
14. Other Noncurrent Assets 

 
This account consists of: 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Refundable deposits from:  

Clearing and Trade Guarantee Fund 
(CTGF) contribuƟons   ₱13,339,586 P=12,649,072

Rental 20  288,025  348,996 
Others   374,951  279,012 
   ₱14,002,562 P=13,277,080

Refundable deposit from CTGF pertains to the monthly contribuƟons paid by the Company,  
as a Clearing Member, to the CTGF maintained by the SecuriƟes Clearing CorporaƟon of the 
Philippines (SCCP).  The monthly contribuƟon is equivalent to 1/500 of 1% applied to the Clearing 
Member’s total monthly turnover value less block sales and cross transacƟons of the same flag.   
The deposit is refundable upon the cessaƟon of the business and/or terminaƟon of the membership 
with the SCCP, provided that all liabiliƟes owing to the SCCP at the Ɵme of terminaƟon, whether 
actual or conƟngent, shall have been saƟsfied or paid in full. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

15. Trade Payables 

This account consists of: 
 

  September 30, 2025 (Unaudited)  December 31, 2024 (Audited) 

 Money Balance 

Security 
ValuaƟon - 

Long Money Balance 

Security 
ValuaƟon - 

Long 
Payable to customers:     
 With money balance P=198,543,019  P=4,581,665,231  P=171,188,023  P=5,343,003,672  
 Without money balance – 3,077,145,928  –  2,842,656,597  
  198,543,019   7,658,811,158  171,188,023 8,185,660,269 
Dividends payable to customers  1,331,030  – 1,331,029 – 
Payable to clearinghouse  28,572,973  – – – 
Payable to other broker  142,345,247  – – – 
 P=370,792,269 P=7,658,811,158 P=172,519,052  P=8,185,660,269 

Payable to customers pertains to segregated bank balances received and held for customers in the 
course of its regulated trading acƟviƟes. These are noninterest-bearing and payable within  
two business days from reporƟng date.  

Payable to other broker pertains to amounts due arising from margin trading acƟviƟes related to 
leveraged posiƟons abroad. 

Dividends payable to customers are noninterest-bearing and payable on demand.  

Payable to clearing house are due and payable aŌer two business days from the transacƟon date.  

Trade payables are due to the following parƟes: 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Third parƟes   ₱339,986,143  P=163,250,652 
Related parƟes 17  30,806,126  9,268,400 
   ₱370,792,269 P=172,519,052

 
 
16. Other Current LiabiliƟes 

 
This account consists of:  

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Taxes payable P=869,140 P=3,789,111
Accruals for: 
 Professional fees   439,600 919,390
 Membership fees  248,667 193,527
 Security services   56,275 105,592
 Commissions and employee bonuses – 9,184,889
 Others  76,773 226,607
Trading fee payable 589,173 488,606
Accounts payable 305,524 253,450
Statutory payables  496,426 460,711
Interest payable  197,952 –
  ₱3,279,530  P=15,621,883 



 

 
 

 
Taxes payable, which pertains to output tax, withholding tax, and percentage tax payable to the BIR, 
are generally seƩled in the succeeding month from transacƟon date. 

Accruals and accounts payable are noninterest-bearing and generally seƩled within one year. 
 
Interest payable pertains to accrued interest from margin trading acƟviƟes abroad and is generally 
seƩled in the succeeding month. 
 
Trading fee payable and statutory payables are generally seƩled in the succeeding month from the 
transacƟon date. 

 
17. Related Party TransacƟons 

 
The Company has transacƟons with its related parƟes in the ordinary course of business as follows: 
 
  Amount of TransacƟons Outstanding Balance  

 Nature of TransacƟons 

September 30, 
2025 

(Unaudited) 

September 30, 
2024 

(Unaudited) 

September 30, 
2025 

(Unaudited) 

December 31, 
2024 

(Audited) Terms and CondiƟons 

Trade Payables (see Note 15)       
Key management personnel Commission income ₱118,037 ₱123,535 ₱18,442,049 ₱8,634,540  Noninterest-bearing; 

secured; no guarantee;  
seƩled in cash within one year 

Affiliate with common officers and 
stockholders Commission income 

 
165,148 

 
213,284 

 
12,364,077 

 
633,860 

    ₱30,806,127 ₱9,268,400  

Other Current LiabiliƟes       
Affiliate with common officers and 

stockholders (see Note 20) Lease of properƟes 836,550 836,550 92,470 903,516 
Unsecured; seƩled in cash 

within one year 
Affiliate with common officers and 

stockholders Purchase of goods – 1,597,314 - - 
Unsecured; seƩled in cash 

within one year 
    92,470 903,516  

Personnel Costs       

Key management personnel 
Short-term employee 

benefits P=3,550,000 P=3,550,000 P=– P=– 

Noninterest-bearing, 
unsecured and payable within 

the month of incurrence 
 Directors’ fees 235,000 90,000 – –  
       

 
18. Personnel Costs 

 
This account consists of: 

   
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Salaries and wages    ₱25,789,303  ₱25,477,495 
Other benefits   8,263,224   8,423,728 
    ₱34,052,527 ₱33,901,223 

 
Personnel costs were distributed as follows: 

   
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Cost of services    ₱23,836,769 ₱23,730,856 
OperaƟng expenses     10,215,758  10,170,367 
    ₱34,052,527 ₱33,901,223 

 
  



 

 
 

19. ReƟrement Plan 

The Company has a funded, noncontributory defined benefit reƟrement plan covering substanƟally 
all of its regular employees.  The benefits are based on a certain percentage of the final monthly basic 
salary for every year of credited service of the employees.  The funded benefit obligaƟon under the 
defined benefit reƟrement plan is determined using the projected unit credit method.  The benefits 
to be received by the employees under the defined benefit reƟrement plan shall not be less than the 
minimum mandated benefit under RA No. 7641, The ReƟrement Pay Law.  There were no 
terminaƟon, curtailment, or seƩlement in September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024.  The latest 
actuarial valuaƟon of the present value of the defined benefit obligaƟon as at December 31, 2024 is 
dated January 26, 2025. 

 
20. Leases 

The Company, as lessee, has lease agreements for its office spaces as at September 30, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024. The leases are renewable upon mutual agreement of the parƟes.  Refundable 
deposits on these lease agreements amounted P=0.3 million as at September 30, 2025 and December 
31, 2024, respecƟvely (see Note 14). 

 
The balance and movements of ROU assets (included as part of “Office Condominium Units and 
Improvements ” account in Property and Equipment) are as follows: 

 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Cost  
Balance at beginning of year   ₱4,520,027 4,406,706
AddiƟons 12  812,898 113,321
Write-off   (862,219) –
Balance at end of year   4,470,706 4,520,027
Accumulated DepreciaƟon  
Balance at beginning of year   2,780,729 678,584
DepreciaƟon    1,585,862 2,102,145
Write-off   (862,219) –
Balance at end of year   3,504,372 2,780,729
Carrying Amount   ₱966,334 P=1,739,298

 
The balance and movements of lease liabiliƟes are as follows: 
 

 Note 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Balance at beginning of year   ₱1,835,016 P=3,761,773
AddiƟons   812,898  113,321
Interest expense   50,226  177,367 
Lease payments   (1,721,540)  (2,217,445)
Balance at end of year   ₱976,600 P=1,835,016

 
  



 

 
 

Lease liabiliƟes are presented in the statements of financial posiƟon as follows: 
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited)
December 31, 2024 

(Audited)
Current  ₱443,938  P=1,820,166 
Noncurrent  532,662  14,850
  ₱976,600 P=1,835,016

 
The Company recognized the following lease-related expenses: 
 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
DepreciaƟon  ₱1,585,862  ₱1,573,067 
Interest expense on lease liabiliƟes  50,226 144,039 

  ₱1,636,088  ₱1,717,106 

 
Future minimum lease commitments under non-cancellable leases as at September 30, 2025 are as 
follows: 
 

Within one year ₱483,550
AŌer one year but no more than three years 563,500 
 ₱1,047,050

 
21. Income Taxes 

The components of income taxes as reported in the statements of comprehensive income are as 
follows: 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Reported in Profit or Loss 

Current tax expense  
 

₱– ₱433,540 
Deferred tax expense   6,026,011 653,313 

  ₱6,026,011 ₱1,086,853 
 

Reported in OCI 
Deferred tax expense on: 

 
 

CumulaƟve unrealized gains on 
changes in fair value of financial 
assets at FVOCI 

 
 

3,382,452 2,567,997 
 ₱3,382,452 ₱2,567,997 

 
  



 

 
 

The components of the Company’s net deferred tax assets are as follows: 
 

  
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
December 31, 2024 

(Audited) 
Deferred tax assets:   

NOLCO  ₱20,254,821   ₱28,013,900 
Net reƟrement benefit liability  7,704,126   7,731,126 
Lease liabiliƟes  244,150   458,754 
Excess MCIT over RCIT –  392,856 
Allowance for credit losses  116,068   89,220 
Excess of cost over fair value of 
financial assets at FVPL  3,320,681   1,336,229  

   ₱31,639,846  ₱38,022,085 
   
Deferred tax liabiliƟes:   

Unrealized foreign exchange gain  11,481,428   11,643,157  
Unrealized gain on changes in fair 
value of FA at FVOCI 

  
6,587,000  3,204,548 

ROU assets  241,584  434,825 
Others  135,520   136,783  

   18,445,532   15,419,313  
   ₱13,194,314   P=22,602,772 

RealizaƟon of the future tax benefits related to the net deferred income tax assets is dependent on 
many factors, including the Company’s ability to generate taxable income, within the carry-over 
period (see Note 2). 

 
22. Earnings per Share 

Basic and diluted EPS are computed as follows: 

 
September 30, 2025 

(Unaudited) 
September 30, 2024 

(Unaudited) 
Net income aƩributable to common 

stockholders  ₱20,354,481 ₱63,089,764 
Divided by weighted average number of 

outstanding common shares  6,875,000,000 6,875,000,000 
Per share amounts: Basic and diluted EPS  ₱0.002961 ₱0.009177 

Diluted EPS equals the basic EPS as the Company does not have any diluƟve potenƟal common shares 
at the end of each of the years presented. 
 

23. Segment ReporƟng  
 

Business Segments 
The Company’s business segments consist of local and global trading. 
 
Segment Assets and LiabiliƟes 
Segment assets include all operaƟng assets used by a segment and consist primarily of operaƟng 
cash, financial assets at FVPL, investments in government securiƟes, receivables, property and 
equipment, investment property, and intangible assets (net of allowances, accumulated depreciaƟon 
and amorƟzaƟon, and impairment) and other current and noncurrent assets. Segment liabiliƟes 



 

 
 

include all operaƟng liabiliƟes and consist primarily of trade payables and other current and 
noncurrent liabiliƟes.  
 
Major Customer 
The Company does not have a single external customer from which sales revenue generated 
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenues of the Company. 

 
  



 

 
 

Financial informaƟon about reportable segments are as follows: 
 
 September 30, 2025 (Unaudited) 
 Local Trading Global Trading Total 
REVENUES    
Interests  P=58,316,071 P=1,680,974 P=59,997,045
Trading gains (losses) on financial assets at  

FVPL - net   29,596,581 (6,927,803) 22,668,778
Dividends   7,295,523  4,739,926 12,035,449
Gain on sale of FA at FVOCI 5,777,157 – 5,777,157
Commissions  3,502,900 – 3,502,900
 104,488,232 (506,903) 103,981,329

COST OF SERVICES 
Personnel costs  (11,918,384)  (11,918,385)  (23,836,769)
Commissions  (9,661,276)  (2,645,588) (12,306,864)
TransacƟon costs  (2,581,385)  (7,362,889) (9,944,274)
Stock exchange dues and fees (1,804,357) – (1,804,357)
Central depository fees   (619,118) – (619,118)
CommunicaƟons (889,840) – (889,840)
Research  (684,118)  (1,376,974) (2,061,092)
 (28,158,478) (23,303,836) (51,462,314)

GROSS PROFIT (LOSS)  76,329,754  (23,810,739) 52,519,015

OPERATING EXPENSES  (22,728,895)  (2,764,396) (25,493,291)

OTHER INCOME (LOSSES) 
Foreign exchange losses  (13,459)  (633,559) (647,018)
Other income 1,786 – 1,786

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX  53,589,186  (27,208,694) 26,380,492

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX   (2,427,033)  (3,598,978) (6,026,011)

NET INCOME (LOSS)  51,162,153  (30,807,672) 20,354,481

SEGMENT ASSETS  1,901,795,837  561,198,668 2,462,994,505

SEGMENT LIABILITIES  263,519,656  142,345,247 405,864,903

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES  

Fixed assets  P=430,615  –  P=430,615

CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM: 
OperaƟng acƟviƟes  28,411,823  (15,901,976) 12,509,847
InvesƟng acƟviƟes  15,574,500  - 15,574,500
Financing acƟviƟes  (31,751,540)  - (31,751,540)

 
 
 
  



 

 
 

 December 31, 2024 
 Local Trading Global Trading Total 
REVENUES    
Interests   P=78,233,986   P=13,051,671  P=91,285,657 
Trading gains on financial assets at  

FVPL - net    40,107,060   22,958,421  63,065,481 
Commissions   4,283,997   –    4,283,997 
Dividends   2,324,817   1,164,582  3,489,399 
Client advisory income  369,989 – 369,989 
 125,319,849 37,174.674 162,494,523 

COST OF SERVICES    
Personnel costs 20,081,012 20,081,012 40,162,024 
Commissions 9,848,133 8,467,084 18,315,217 
TransacƟon costs 4,011,288 9,421,337 13,432,625 
Research  869,186 1,795,926 2,665,112 
Stock exchange dues and fees 2,660,082 – 2,660,082 
CommunicaƟons 1,186,903 – 1,186,903 
Central depository fees 931,017 – 931,017 
 39,587,621 39,765,359 79,352,980 

GROSS PROFIT (LOSS) 85,732,228 (2,590,685) 83,141,543 

OPERATING EXPENSES (36,001,762) (4,786,966) (40,788,728) 

OTHER INCOME (LOSSSES)    
Foreign exchange gains (losses) (256,686) 17,450,429 17,193,743 
Other income 446 – 446 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 49,474,226 10,072,778 59,547,004 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT) (7,529,015) 2,542,087 (4,986,928) 

NET INCOME P=57,003,241 P=7,530,691 P=64,533,932 

SEGMENT ASSETS P=1,848,933,860 P=428,624,359 P=2,277,558,219 

SEGMENT LIABILITIES P=220,900,455 P=– P=220,900,455 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES     
Fixed assets P=7,469,160 P=– P=7,469,160 

CASH FLOWS ARISING FROM:    
OperaƟng acƟviƟes P=23,739,385 (P=34,991,087) (P=11,251,702) 
InvesƟng acƟviƟes (7,468,714) –  (7,468,714) 
Financing acƟviƟes (20,367,445) –  (20,367,445) 

 
  



 

 
 

SCHEDULE VIII 
 
 
 

CTS GLOBAL EQUITY GROUP, INC. 
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF  

FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS INDICATORS UNDER REVISED SRC RULE 68 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2025 
 
 

  September 30, 2025 September 30, 2024 

   
Current/liquidity raƟo  3.11  5.15 

Current assets  P=1,165,747,604       P=958,118,690 
Current liabiliƟes  374,515,737          185,882,175 

   
Solvency raƟo  0.06    0.31 

AŌer-tax income (loss) before depreciaƟon  P=24,896,249   P=67,090,228 
Total liabiliƟes  405,864,903  213,691,044 

   
Debt-to-equity raƟo  0.20  0.10 

Total liabiliƟes  P=405,864,903   P=213,691,044 
Total equity  2,057,129,602  2,062,043,710 

   
Asset-to-equity raƟo  1.20  1.10 

Total assets  P=2,462,994,505   P=2,275,734,754 
Total equity  2,057,129,602    2,062,043,710 

   
Interest rate coverage raƟo  235.44  343.85 

Income (loss) before interest and taxes  P=26,493,019   P=64,363,800 
Interest expense  112,527    187,183 

   
Return on Equity 0.01 0.03 

AŌer-tax income (loss)  P=20,354,481   P=63,089,764 
Total equity  2,057,129,602  2,062,043,710 

   
Return on assets 0.01 0.03 

AŌer-tax income (loss)  P=20,354,481   P=63,089,764 
Total assets  2,462,994,505  2,275,734,754 

   
Other relevant raƟos   

RBCA raƟo 480% 970% 
RaƟo of AI to NLC 19.6% 9.4% 
RaƟo of Core Equity to ORR 6929% 7102% 
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